Portland State University PDXScholar

Dissertations and Theses

Dissertations and Theses

1-1-2012

Perceived Isolation, Social Integration, and Health Behavior: A Daily Process Examination of Responses to Loneliness

Sarah Noel Arpin Portland State University

Let us know how access to this document benefits you.

Follow this and additional works at: https://pdxscholar.library.pdx.edu/open_access_etds

Recommended Citation

Arpin, Sarah Noel, "Perceived Isolation, Social Integration, and Health Behavior: A Daily Process Examination of Responses to Loneliness" (2012). *Dissertations and Theses*. Paper 543.

10.15760/etd.543

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations and Theses by an authorized administrator of PDXScholar. For more information, please contact pdxscholar@pdx.edu.

Perceived Isolation, Social Integration, and Health Behavior: A Daily Process

Examination of Responses to Loneliness

by

Sarah Noel Arpin

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Psychology

Thesis Committee Cynthia D. Mohr, Chair Kimberly Kahn Lauren Lichty

Portland State University ©2012

Abstract

Researchers have examined social relationships as a basic need, showing that being well integrated in a network of social ties is related to various positive health outcomes including reduced mortality and risk behavior (e.g. reduced alcohol consumption). Conversely, a lack of strong social ties is related to negative outcomes including depression, suicide, and substance use (Berkman & Syme, 1979; Durkheim, 1951; Sarason, Sarason, & Gurung, 2001). Loneliness, a negative affective experience resulting from relationship deficits, is related to similar health outcomes as social isolation including depression and problematic alcohol use (Cacioppo, Hawkley, Crawford et al., 2002). However, research to date examining loneliness and health behavior has predominantly employed cross-sectional measures (e.g. UCLA Loneliness Scale; Russell, Peplau, & Cutrona, 1980), therefore failing to capture more fluctuating experiences of and responses to loneliness which may signify maladaptive patterns of coping behavior (Hawkley, Burleson, Bernston, & Cacioppo, 2003; Shankur, McMunn, Banks, & Steptoe, 2011). The purpose of this present study was to examine responses to daily loneliness (i.e. social and solitary alcohol consumption) as a function of social integration and gender, through a secondary analysis of data collected in a larger daily process study. Results indicated that daytime loneliness predicted evening increases in solitary consumption and decreases in social consumption. Further, these within-person effects were influenced by gender and social integration. These findings provide a unique understanding of specific processes by which social relationships, or the perceived lack thereof, influence health and more specifically, mood-related health behavior.

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank my committee for their time, insights, and support of this thesis project. Your insights and expertise contributed greatly to this project, and without your input this document would not be what it is today. I would especially like to thank my advisor, Cynthia Mohr, for being so supportive and enthusiastic about this project, as well as in my progress over the last two years. Lastly, I would like to thank my peers, family, and friends, whose simple presence and support serve as consistent reminders of the true power of interpersonal relationships.

| Abstract | i |
|--|----|
| Acknowledgments | ii |
| List of Tables | v |
| List of Figures | vi |
| Introduction | 1 |
| Social Relationships and Health | 4 |
| Social Integration and Health Outcomes | 6 |
| Social Integration and Social Support | 9 |
| Stress-Centered Models of Influence | 11 |
| Psycho-Social Processes of Social Networks | 11 |
| Loneliness | 18 |
| Types of Loneliness | 20 |
| Responses to Loneliness | 22 |
| Outcomes of Loneliness | |
| Daily Process Methods | |
| Daily Loneliness and Health Outcomes | |
| Motivational Models of Alcohol Consumption | 30 |
| Stress-Vulnerability Models of Consumption | 33 |
| Gaps in the Literature | |
| Present Study | |
| Model | |
| Hypotheses | |
| Hypothesis 1a and Research Question #1 | |
| Hypothesis 2a-d | 40 |
| Hypothesis 3a-d | 41 |
| Methods | 43 |
| Participants | 43 |
| Initial Assessment | 44 |

Table of Contents

| Social Network Index | 44 |
|---|-----|
| Demographic Variables of Interest | 45 |
| Daily Diary Protocol | 46 |
| Daily Loneliness | 46 |
| Daily Alcohol Consumption | 46 |
| Drinking Context | 47 |
| Data Analysis | 48 |
| Variable Creation | 48 |
| Missing Data | 51 |
| Distributional Assumptions | 52 |
| Data Structure | 55 |
| Results | 57 |
| Descriptive Statistics | 57 |
| Hypothesis Testing | 59 |
| Hypothesis 1a | 60 |
| Research Question #1 | 61 |
| Hypothesis 2a-d | 62 |
| Hypothesis 3a-d | 64 |
| Discussion | 68 |
| Limitations | 84 |
| Contributions and Future Directions | 86 |
| Conclusion | 90 |
| Tables | 91 |
| Figures | 95 |
| References | 96 |
| Appendix A: Social Network Index | 119 |
| Appendix B: Example Daily Diary Questions | 122 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: Correlations among aggregate study variables | 1 |
|--|---|
| Table 2: Hypothesis 1a and research question #1 (within-person associations between loneliness and subsequent alcohol consumption) | 1 |
| Table 3: Hypothesis 2a-d (mean-level associations of gender and social integration with drinking outcomes). | 5 |
| Table 4: Hypothesis 3a-d (cross-level interactions of social integration and gender on loneliness-drinking associations) | 6 |

List of Figures

| Figure 2: Cross-level interaction of social integration and loneliness on solitary consumption | 99 |
|--|----|
| Figure 2: Cross-level interaction of gender and loneliness on solitary consumption consumption | 99 |
| Figure 3: Cross-level interaction of gender and loneliness on social consumption consumption | 99 |

Perceived isolation, social integration, and health behavior: A daily process examination of responses to loneliness

It is widely known that supportive social relationships are vital elements of human flourishing and well-being. Various theorists have argued that human relationships satisfy a fundamental human need, and that the desire to develop and maintain relationships is an essential human motivation (Deci & Ryan, 2000; Baumeister & Leary, 1995). In their theory of self-determination, Deci and Ryan (2000) maintain that human beings are intrinsically motivated to fulfill the basic need of interpersonal relatedness, or feelings of closeness and connectedness with others. Reis, Shaver, and Gable (2000) demonstrate that on a daily level, such needs are best fulfilled when an individual feels unconditionally cared for and supported, which results in greater feelings of intimacy, self-esteem, vitality, and positive affect (LaGuardia & Patrick, 2008). Overall, relatedness needs satisfaction, particularly in adolescent development, has been shown to relate to greater positive affect and well-being, whereas low relatedness and interpersonal connectedness result in various psychological and behavioral consequences, such as anxiety, depression, alienation and risk behavior (e.g. alcohol and marijuana use, early sexual activity, etc.; Deci & Ryan, 2000; Heinrich, Brookmeyer, Shrier & Sharah, 2006; Resnick et al., 1997).

Very similar in theory to the self-determination perspective, Baumeister and Leary (1995) propose that human beings have a pervasive drive to form and maintain lasting, positive, and significant interpersonal relationships. According to their *need to belong* hypothesis, the universal tendency to form social relationships is a fundamental motivation, in that it has affective consequences; results in pathological outcomes

(psychological and behavioral) when thwarted; and elicits goal-directed behavior (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; Sheldon & Gunz, 2009). Recent research has explored connection-seeking behavior as a function of the thwarted need to belong (Maner, DeWall, Baumeister, & Schaller, 2007). For example, Sheldon and Gunz (2009) conducted a series of studies examining psychological need deficiencies and relevant motivations. Their findings demonstrated that perceived deficits in interpersonal relatedness predicted greater motivation to develop interpersonal connection. Similarly, Maner et al. (2007) demonstrated that the experience of social exclusion increased respondents' desire to form social bonds with others and resulted in a tendency to view potential partners as more optimistic and friendly. Furthermore, in a controlled laboratory manipulation of social rejection and ostracism, Baumeister and DeWall (2005) discovered significant impairments in cognitive ability, memory retrieval, logical reasoning, and self-regulation among those who had received messages of social exclusion and rejection. It is clear, then, that the need, desire, and motivation to form social relationships plays a large role in shaping human emotion, cognition, and behavior, all of which have important implications for physical health and well-being.

Theorists have also examined the need-based perspective of social relationships through theories of *symbolic interactionism*, which suggest that social interaction provides for optimal human development through the formation of the social self (Mead, 1934; Thoits, 1983). Central to this perspective is the argument that it is through social interactions that individuals come to view themselves as a "meaningful social entities [within] meaningful social categories," identities, or social roles (Thoits, 1983, p. 17).

This sense of meaning is achieved through the internalization of "role-identities", or behavioral expectations attached to occupied social roles and positions. Within these different social identities, individuals achieve a sense of meaning, identity, purpose, and self-esteem. Further, having a variety of social identities is also thought to increase feelings of security, a sense of personal worth and protect against identity loss, feelings of alienation, and social isolation (Reitzes & Mutron, 1994; Thoits, 1992).

Interestingly, the symbolic interactionist perspective also posits that social roles regulate behavior by providing a set of norms and expectations (Thoits, 1992). Such norms and expectations facilitate healthy behavior (e.g. exercise) and inhibit risk behaviors (e.g. alcohol consumption) to the extent that group norms are health-promoting (Cohen et al., 2000). It is important to note that social ties endorsing negative health behaviors, such as excessive substance use, are detrimental to individual health, despite the sense of belongingness such ties may provide (Uchino, 2006). For example, research examining the social networks of recovering alcoholics and/or and the effects of social ties on smoking cessation demonstrates low recovery and cessation rates for individuals with a high percentage of drinkers or smokers in their social networks (Cohen, Lichenstein, et al., 1988; Havassy, Hall, & Wasserman, 1991; Latkin, C.A., Knowlton, A. R., Hoover, D., Mandell, W., 1999; Mohr, Averne, Kenny, & DelBoca, 2001).

Social relationships may also be the source of relational stress and interpersonal conflict. Indeed, much research has provided evidence that interpersonal conflict and negative social contacts are commonly reported as the most distressing daily events (Bolger, DeLongis, Kessler, & Schilling, 1989), and that interpersonal conflict and

problematic social ties significantly diminish both global and daily psychological wellbeing (Rook, 1984/2001). Daily negative social contacts and interpersonal conflict have also been related to increased maladaptive coping behavior such as alcohol consumption. For example, in a study of daily social contacts and college student drinking, Mohr et al. (2005) demonstrated that increases in negative social contacts predicted increased drinking at home and increased solitary consumption. Interestingly, Mohr and colleagues (2003) also demonstrated that women were particularly reactive to such negative social contacts, and that the effects of these negative interpersonal experiences carried over within and across days. Though social relationships have the potential to be the source of some negativity, research suggests that positive (i.e. intimacy, social support) and negative (i.e. interpersonal conflict) aspects of relationships are functionally independent systems (Reis & Gable, 2003); therefore validating the continued exploration of wellbeing effects of close relationships. In line with this, the majority of research continues to suggest that being well-integrated in a network of diverse social ties is primarily related to greater psychological health and physiological well-being, as well as inversely related to risk behavior (Berkman & Breslow, 1983; House, Landis, & Umberson, 1988b; Reynolds & Kaplan, 1990)

Social Relationships and Health

Psychological well-being, defined as the presence of positive affect and relatively lower levels of negative affect, has for some time been examined as an operationalization of positive human functioning, happiness, and human flourishing (Snyder, Lopez, & Pedrotti, 2011). Researchers have examined the association between interpersonal

relationships and psychological health, providing evidence that feelings of connectedness to others can have both global and daily effects on well-being (Reis et al., 2000), and that a lack of connectedness to others predicts anxiety, depression, and the development of various mood disorders (Baumeister & Leary, 1995; DeLongis, Folkman, & Lazarus, 1988; Sarason et al., 2001). Additionally, failure to maintain lasting, positive interpersonal relationships results in a sense of deprivation, anger, and loneliness (Cacioppo et al., 2000; Heinrich & Gullone, 2006).

Much of the literature on social relationships and well-being stems from the seminal work of sociologist Emile Durkheim (1857/1951), who proposed that a lack or breakdown of family, friend, and community ties has severe pathological outcomes, specifically suicide. He theorized that a lack of social ties leads to a loss of social resources, particularly those providing support and defining social roles and norms (Durkheim, 1951; Cohen et al., 2000). Since the work of Durkheim, research has continuously shown that social connectedness is related to numerous health outcomes such as morbidity, mortality, immune system functioning, and health behavior (e.g. alcohol consumption; Berkman & Breslow, 1983; Cohen, 1991; House et al., 1988b). Some of the most provocative evidence for these associations has been found in studies examining social integration, or the diversity of social ties in an individual's social network (Uchino, 2004). Other researchers have defined social integration as having multiple social identities (Thoits, 1983); the existence or quantity of social ties or relationships with which an individual has frequent contact (House et al., 1988b); and, in more sociologic terms, as the inverse of social isolation (Seeman, 1996). Derived from

Barnes' (1954) study of social networks, this component of social relationships refers to the presence of social ties, though not necessarily the supportive functions they provide (Cohen & Wills, 1985). Very generally, social integration is thought to influence the availability of supportive resources, health-relevant information, along with an individual's behavioral and emotional responses to experiences within his/her network of relationships (Berkman, Glass, Brissette, & Seeman, 2000).

Social integration and health outcomes. The most well-cited evidence linking social integration to health outcomes is found in the work of Berkman and Syme (1979) and Berkman and Breslow (1983), who examined the associations between social connectedness and mortality in a prospective population study of Alameda County, CA. Using a stratified sample of 6,928 community adults, Berkman and colleagues (1979/1983) collected surveys assessing four specific types of social ties (i.e. marital status, contacts with friends and relatives, church membership, and informal and formal group associations), health practices such as alcohol consumption and physical activity, as well as mortality and morbidity outcomes. Follow-up data was collected in the nine years following the initial 1965 data collection, and death records were compiled using the California Death Registry. Findings revealed that overall, women had lower mortality rates than men; that those who were married had lower mortality rates than the non-married; those who reported having few friends and relatives and having infrequent contact with these friends/relatives had higher mortality rates than those who reported more friends and relatives; those who belonged to religious or volunteer organizations had lower mortality rates than those who did not; and that these associations were greater

for men than they were women (Berkman & Syme, 1979). In sum, high social integration was related to better health outcomes, while low integration or social isolation was predictive of shorter life-span.

In regards to health practices, findings indicated that the less socially integrated reported greater alcohol and cigarette consumption, less physical activity, greater obesity, and less frequent use of medical services (Berkman & Breslow, 1983; Berkman & Syme, 1979). More recent research has continued to support these findings, demonstrating that low social integration is related to greater mortality; alcohol consumption and cigarette use; disease onset; poor immune system functioning; as well as increased risk of dying from heart disease, cancer, and circulatory disease (Berkman et al., 2000; Cohen, 1988; Cohen & Lemay, 2007; House, Landis, & Umberson, 1988a; Kuntsche, Knibbe, Gmel, 2009; Pressman, Cohen, Miller, & Rabin, 2005; Reynolds & Kaplan, 1990).

Through their Alameda County study and further research, Berkman and Syme (1979) developed a Social Network Index (see Appendix A) to reflect the key dimensions of social integration, that is the participation in a diversity of social relationships (i.e. Social Network Index, SNI; Berkman & Syme, 1979). This measure is frequently employed throughout the social relationships and health literature and notably, was used in this current study. As a self-report measure, the SNI requires respondents to record participation in a variety of social roles and relationships, including that of spouse, parent, work-related relationships, as well as involvement in religious and volunteer organizations (Cohen, Doyle, Skoner, Rabin, & Gwaltney, 1997). Additionally respondents note the frequency of interaction (in person or not in person) with other

people in each type of role/relationship. In assessing both the number of social ties and the relative frequency of contact with each tie, the SNI provides information beyond social network size or number of social ties. Importantly, this measure also weights the relative importance of specific ties (i.e. intimate ties are weighted more heavily) enabling researchers to explore how different types of social relationships (weak versus strong/intimate) differentially influence health.

Of particular interest to this current study is the differential health behavior of integrated versus less integrated individuals. Though such health risk behaviors as alcohol and cigarette consumption are often included as control variables in social epidemiological research, they still explain much of the variance (e.g. 20%; Berkman et al., 2000b) in social integration and health outcomes. Research has also indicated that health behaviors play a vital role in predicting health status. Specifically, Hamburg, Elliot, and Parron (1982) estimated that nearly 50% of all mortality is caused by negative health behaviors. In a study of social networks and quality of life among older adults, Michael and colleagues (1999) found similar evidence that individual health behaviors (e.g. smoking, alcohol consumption, sedentary behavior, and being overweight), were significantly related to levels of physical functioning, such that an increase in risk behavior predicted a decline in physical functioning and health-related quality of life (Michael, Colditz, Coakley, & Kawachi, 1999). Furthermore, recent statistics have shown that nearly half of the top ten leading causes of death in developed countries are caused by preventable factors including risk behaviors such as tobacco and alcohol use, physical inactivity, unhealthy diet, and risky sexual behavior (Gray, 1993). Given that

these behaviors are inversely related to social integration, and play a large role in determining health status, theorists have described health behaviors as a potential pathway through which social connectedness affects mortality and morbidity.

Social integration and social support. Aside from health behavior, the associations between social integration and health have been traditionally explained by different models and definitions of social support. Generally defined as the actual content of social relationships, including the provision of psychosocial resources (Cohen & Wills, 1985), support has been described in terms of function and structure. While functional support refers to the extent to which social ties provide specific social resources, structural support refers to the organization of relationships within a social network (Cohen, 1991) and is thus typically assessed via measures of social networks, including Berkman and Syme's (1979) Social Network Index (Berkman, Glass, Brissette, & Seeman, 2000a). Broadly, structural support refers to quantitative elements of social ties, including social integration; the frequency of social contact; the density of social ties, or the extent to which network members interact with each other; homogeneity, or the extent to which network members are characteristically similar; and reciprocity, or the extent to which social resources and support is both given and received in a relationship (Heaney & Israel, 1997). Together, social integration and social network variables (i.e. density, homogeneity, etc.) are thought of as "the most distal determinants of social support" in that they provide information about channels through which supportive resources can, but need not flow (Stroebe & Stroebe, 1996, p. 600).

Drawing from different definitions of social support, Weiss (1973/1974) conceptualized a theory of relationship provisions (Stroebe & Stroebe, 1996). Arguing that all individuals are characterized by a "fund of sociability...a readiness and need to interact with others," Weiss (1974) maintained that social relationships are vital in that they provide six primary resources: intimacy, social integration, reassurance of worth, opportunity for nurturing behavior, assistance, guidance, and advice (p. 17). Central to Weiss' (1974) theory is the hypothesis that different types of relationships (e.g. spouse, friend, co-worker, etc.) provide for each of the six social provisions. In example, friendships provide a sense of social integration; intimate relationships a sense of attachment; and work relationships reassurance of worth (Cutrona & Russell, 1987). Also key to Weiss' (1973) typology of relational provisions is the idea that a deficit in any one provision results in the distressing experience of loneliness. Because different relationships tend to provide for and serve difference functions, Weiss (1973) argued that a variety of relationships is necessary in order to avoid loneliness. Furthermore, such a diversity of relationships and social participation (social integration) may provide for a sense of belonging, guidance, and advice (Rokach & Brock, 1998).

Researchers have further specified distinct pathways through which the general structure or organization of social relationships, as well as the mere presence of others, have such powerful health outcomes. Specifically, Cohen (1991) outlined stress-centered/stress-buffering and psychosocial models, providing a number of potential processes through which networks of relationships may influence individual health, health behavior, and overall well-being.

Stress-centered models of influence: Stress-buffering model. One important psycho-social pathway linking social integration to health is through the provision of supportive social resources (House, et al., 1988b). On a basic level, social networks are thought of as "morphological structures within which confiding relationships may emerge" (Lin, 1986, p. 20); therefore, integration is thought to influence the receipt of various kinds of support (e.g. informational, instrumental, emotional, etc.), thus promoting perceptions of support availability (Thoits, 1995). In support of this assumption, Cohen and Lemay (2007) reported a moderate correlation (r = .21, p < .05; Cohen & Lemay, 2007) between social integration and perceived social support, such that more diverse networks were associated with greater perceptions of support availability. Stress-centered models of influence focus on such social resources, or social supports, as a function of relationships, which may buffer the negative effects of stress and negativity. Such effects are known as the *stress-buffering hypothesis* (Cassel, 1976; Cobb, 1976; Cohen & Wills, 1985), proponents of which argue that social support is beneficial primarily for individuals under stress. Subsequent research has provided ample evidence that perceptions of support availability reduce behavioral and biological responses to stress. In this model, perceptions of support availability are thought to facilitate adaptive coping behavior; increase an individual's perceived ability to cope; reduce negative emotional reactions to the stress; or directly removing the source of stress itself (Cohen et al., 2000b).

Psycho-social processes of social networks: Main effect hypotheses. While stress-buffering models posit that social networks and social support are beneficial

primarily for persons under stress, psycho-social process models refer to a variety of processes through which social integration more directly influences health. Such models focus on the *main effects* of social relationships, which provide evidence that social networks influence individual behavior, health, and well-being irrespective of stress levels (Cohen, 1988; House et al., 1988a). In their original conceptualization of this model, Cohen and Wills (1985) proposed that being connected to a large social network (composed of friend, family, and distant ties) provides for a sense of identity, self-esteem, sense of control; increases levels of received and perceived support; and provides consistent opportunity for positive social interactions. Primarily assessed through measures of social integration, the main effects of social support are thought to influence health through a variety of psycho-social processes (Cohen, 1988). More specifically, social integration is thought to affect mortality, morbidity, and psychological well-being through its influence on the social control of health behaviors, the receipt of healthrelevant information, and through psychological affect or moods (Cohen et al., 2000b; Uchino, 2006). Given that social integration is such a primary component of my proposed study, I will be focusing my hypotheses and statistical analyses on the primary theoretical pathways of influence as diagrammed and described below. Specifically, I will describe generic pathways of influence through health behaviors; information-based models describing social ties as sources of health-relevant information and learned behavior; and of greatest relevance to my proposed study, models of identity, self-esteem, and psychological state/affect, which emphasize the affective influence of social relationships.



Figure 1.1. Pathways through which social relationships can have direct (main) effects on psychological and physical health. Paths are all drawn in one direction for simplicity but feedback loops are possible.

Generic models of influence: Social control theory. At the most general level, it has been suggested that social network ties influence illness, mortality, morbidity, and well-being through their influence on health behaviors (e.g. alcohol consumption, physical exercise, etc.) which increase or decrease the risk of disease (Cohen, 1988), or through behaviors that are protective of health in the face of stress (e.g. physical exercise; adaptive coping behavior; House, Umberson, & Landis, 1988). In support of this pathway are theories of *social control* (Lewis & Rook, 1999; Rook, Thuras, & Lewis, 1990), which propose that significant others directly and indirectly influence individual behavior by discouraging unhealthy behavioral practices; facilitating health-promoting behaviors; as well as through an individual's commitment and responsibility to achieved social roles (Umberson, 1992). In line with traditional theories of symbolic interactionism (Thoits, 1983), theories of social control suggest that social relationships exert normative control over individual behaviors through the "internalization of norms

for conventional behavior...and [through] sanctions for behavior defined as unconventional or deviant" (Umberson, 1987, p. 309). More specifically, an individual may control his/her health behaviors out concern for his/her roles and responsibilities within close relationships. Additionally, spouses or children may remind the individual to engage in healthy behaviors and avoid unhealthy behaviors.

Traditionally, researchers have assessed social control by relating marital and/or parenting status to risk-taking behavior. For example, Umberson (1987) examined marital status and parenting roles in relation to lifestyle measures assessing substance use and abuse, including the use of alcohol as a coping technique. Findings indicated that parenthood was significantly associated with less substance use, particularly for those parents with children living in the same residence. Also, divorced and widowed participants were more likely to engage in negative health behaviors than those who were married. In line with these findings, Rook, Thuras, and Lewis (1990) examined social control and health risk-taking in a sample of older adults, demonstrating that individuals reporting frequent "positive regulatory actions by others" (p. 333) not only reported less risk behavior (e.g. cigarette consumption), but also less loneliness and greater relationship satisfaction.

Umberson (1992) similarly demonstrated that divorce was associated with more alcohol consumption. cigarette smoking and less physical activity; having children under the age of sixteen was associated with less alcohol consumption for men and women; and having adult children was related to less alcohol consumption and more physical activity for women. In this same study, Umberson (1992) examined sources of social control,

finding that married individuals were more likely to report a spouse, parent figure, or child as the instigator of social control. More recently, Lewis and Rook (1999) examined social control attempts by particular network members finding that social control within close relationships was associated with positive health behavior change (e.g. decrease in substance use).

Information-based models: Social learning theory. In addition to providing social resources, social ties are also thought of as integral sources of health-relevant information and learned behavior (Hussong, Hicks, & Levy, 2001). Theory suggests that having a diversity of social ties provides for multiple sources of information, therefore increasing the probability that an individual will have access to a health-promoting information source (Cohen, et al., 2000b). Such information could help an individual to avoid potentially stressful events, or include information about adaptive ways of coping with stressful events if they should occur. Indeed, theories of *social learning* posit that social ties model adaptive coping strategies and coping behaviors (Heaney & Israel, 1997; House et al., 1988b).

Much research has provided evidence for social network resources as predictors of coping behavior (Fondacaro & Moos, 1987; Holahan & Moos, 1987), such that greater social resources (e.g. friendship, family, and financial support) increase the use of approach coping (i.e. drawing on social support resources) and decrease the use of avoidance coping (e.g. alcohol consumption; Moos, Brennan, Fondacaro, & Moos, 1990). Holahan and Moos (1987) provided clear evidence for this pathway in a study of personal and contextual determinants of coping strategies. Drawing from various theories of

social support, these researchers hypothesized that the availability of social resources would promote adaptive coping strategies (e.g. "talking with a friend/spouse/relative about the problem") and discourage avoidance coping behaviors (e.g. "trying to reduce tension by drinking more...smoking more...taking more tranquilizing drugs"). Indeed, results indicated that avoidant coping was associated with fewer personal and environmental resources, while active-behavioral coping was positively associated with family support, environmental, and social resources. Moos et al. (1990) also examined avoidance and approach coping among a sample of problem drinkers. Their findings suggested that problem drinkers with more social resources (e.g. financial, spouse/partner, and friendship resources, as well as active participation in social and religious organizations) were more likely to use approach coping (i.e. "I talked with a friend about the problem"; "I made a plan of action and followed it"), than those without such social resources. Furthermore, approach coping was related to better functioning outcomes, including fewer physical symptoms and drinking problems, whereas avoidance coping was related to worse outcomes, such as greater number of drinking problems.

Of notable interest is related research by Krause (1987), which demonstrates that the greater availability of coping resources increases an individual's feelings of control over a stressor and feelings of self-esteem, and that this perceived controllability elicits the use of problem-focused, or action-oriented coping behavior both for the support receiver and provider (i.e. specific attempts to change or eliminate the source of stressful events; Cutrona & Suhr, 1992). In a similar light, researchers and theorists posit that social integration influences feelings of "self-worth, predictability, stability, and control"

(Rodriguez & Cohen, 1998, p. 539), in addition to self-esteem and a sense of mastery (Brissette, Cohen, & Seeman, 2000; Cohen, 1988; Cohen & Lemay, 2007). Given such feelings of mastery, control, and self-esteem, it is likely that the socially integrated individual would respond to stress and negativity differently than his/her less integrated counterpart. This breadth of research demonstrates that social support resources and social networks not only act as coping resources from which individuals can draw support in times of need, but also exert great influence in determining coping behavior.

Models of identity, self-esteem, and psychological affect: Loneliness model.

Another important, though less examined pathway linking social integration to health is through the affective influence of social support and social relationships. House and colleagues (1988b) proposed that, if there is a basic need for social connection, people feel better psychologically when that need is fulfilled. In line with this assertion, models of identity and self-esteem suggest that social integration increases positive affect, self-esteem, personal control, belongingness, as well as a stable sense of life meaning and purpose (Cohen, 1988/1991; House et al., 1988b; Thoits, 1985). Conversely, social isolation increases negative affect, sense of alienation, and decreases a sense of control (Cohen, 1988; Uchino, Cacioppo, & Kiecolt-Glaser, 1996).

Drawing from Weiss' (1973) theory of relationship provisions and models of identity and self-esteem, recent theorists have conceptualized the *loneliness model*, suggesting that social isolation (i.e. lack of integration) influences health above and beyond the positive effects of social integration through the distressing experience of loneliness (Cacioppo et al., 2002; Stroebe & Stroebe, 1996; Uchino, 2006). Though

various researchers have explored the influence of social integration and/or isolation on physical health and well-being, few have examined the potential role by which loneliness plays in these associations. More importantly, few researchers have attempted to unpack the *loneliness model*, exploring how social integration *and* loneliness (perceived isolation) simultaneously influence health and health behaviors (Cornwell & Waite, 2009; Penninx et al., 1997; Shankur, McMunn, Banks, & Steptoe, 2011).

Loneliness

Commonly defined as the perception of social isolation (Perlman & Peplau, 1984), or the perceived discrepancy in the quantity or quality of interpersonal relationships (Russell et al., 1980), loneliness is a commonly reported experience associated with feelings of dissatisfaction, unhappiness, anxiety, hostility, emptiness, boredom, and restlessness (Perlman & Peplau, 1982; Perlman & Peplau, 1984; Rook, 1984). One of the most basic models of loneliness is the cognitive model, which proposes that the basis of loneliness is a perceived discrepancy between desired and actual interpersonal relationships (Paloutzien & Janigian, 1987). This model describes loneliness as a subjective experience based on the perception and evaluation of relationship quality, thus distinguishing loneliness from objective social isolation (Peplau, 1985).

In line with the cognitive model of loneliness, which emphasizes the role of subjectivity in perceiving loneliness, research has demonstrated that perceived and objective social isolation (loneliness and social network size) are only moderately correlated (Cornwell & Waite, 2009; Shankur et al., 2011). That is, loneliness is not

synonymous with social isolation or lack of social integration, and the socially isolated should not be assumed to be among the lonely. However, researchers have identified social isolation, as measured by the quantity of social ties or lack of network diversity and participation, as a key though distal determinant of loneliness (e.g. Cutrona, 1986; Hawkley et al., 2008). For example, evidence suggests that those experiencing greater loneliness have smaller and less satisfying social networks; less frequent interactions with close friends and family; and engage in social activities less frequently than do nonlonely individuals (Jones & Moore, 1987; Wenger, Davis, Shahtahmasebi, & Scott, 1996).

Cutrona (1986) demonstrated various social correlates of loneliness in an examination of network characteristics, perceptions of social support and loneliness in an elderly sample of participants. Results indicated that the number of kin in a given social network significantly contributed to feelings of loneliness, such that more kin predicted less loneliness. Marital status and frequency of contact with kin were also significantly related to increased perceptions of support by a given network (Cutrona, 1986). In a similar vein, Bondevik and Skogstad (1998) provided evidence that low frequency of contacts with friends and neighbors was related to high levels of loneliness in a sample of aging adults. Likewise, Golden et al. (2009) examined loneliness, social support networks, mood and well-being in a sample of elderly adults. Findings demonstrated that living alone and having a non-integrated social network predicted a higher prevalence of loneliness. Therefore, lacking specific relationships, frequent positive interactions within

these relationships and, more generally, a diverse network of social ties is thought to predispose individuals to the distressing experience of loneliness

Researchers have also explored personality traits that may make it difficult for individuals to form and maintain satisfying relationships, therefore increasing the likelihood of loneliness. Such traits include shyness, poor social skills, low-self-esteem, low social competence, low social risk-taking, and self-consciousness in social situations (Peplau & Perlman, 1979). Though these individual characteristics are likely to contribute to the experience of loneliness, researchers suggest that loneliness is more "related to a broad range of interpersonal inadequacies rather than a deficiency of any one particular skill" (Marangoni & Ikes, 1989, pp. 99). Therefore, personality correlates of loneliness refer to a combination of psychosocial difficulties (i.e. poor social skills, low self-esteem, etc.) as opposed to any one particular personality dimension (Heinrich & Gullone, 2006).

Types of loneliness. Though the majority of research examines loneliness as a uni-dimensional construct, theorists have explored different typologies of this affective experience, describing each in terms of chronicity and stability. Drawing from his theory of relationship functions, Weiss (1973) defined two distinct forms of loneliness based on specific relationship deficits. He specified social loneliness as resulting from a lack of social integration, and emotional loneliness as resulting from the lack of an intimate attachment relationship (Russell, Cutrona, Rose, & Yurko, 1984; Weiss, 1973). Jones (1987) further distinguished between state loneliness and more stable experiences of loneliness, arguing that state loneliness involves momentary feelings of isolation usually

resulting from an immediate interpersonal deficit, while more enduring experiences of loneliness are more trait-like and thus persist over time. Young (1982) similarly differentiated chronic, situational, and transient loneliness, defining chronic loneliness as the pervasive experience of being unable to develop and maintain satisfying relationships; situational loneliness as the distressing feeling of isolation following major life stress events, such as the death of a spouse or relocating to a new city; and transient loneliness as the everyday, shorter bouts of feeling lonely experienced by most people throughout daily life.

In support of the above typologies of loneliness, researchers have examined how experiences of loneliness change over time based on different stages of life development (adolescent vs. elderly); changes in social networks (e.g. loss of a loved one); and major life events (e.g. marriage, retirement, etc.; Akerlind & Hornquist, 1989). Additionally, recent research has provided evidence that loneliness fluctuates within and between days as a function of social context and social contacts (Gross, Juvenon, & Gable, 2002; Larsen, 1999). For example, Larsen (1999) assessed momentary experiences of loneliness in a sample of young teens, and examined these reports in different social contexts (e.g. alone, home, or at school). Results indicated that loneliness varied across contexts, and that participants reported greater loneliness at school and in public locations. Other experience sampling studies have found similar trends using samples of older adolescents and young adults (Larsen, Csikszentmihalyi, & Graef, 1982). Not

surprisingly, solitude-loneliness mood associations for both groups were of greater magnitude when individuals were home alone on Friday or Saturday evenings.

Responses to loneliness. Research has also elucidated a diversity of behavioral strategies which people use in coping with feelings of loneliness (Rubenstein & Shaver, 1982; Perlman & Peplau, 1979/1981). Generally, these responses fall into one of four main categories: *active solitude*, referring to behaviors such as studying or working, listening to music, exercising, walking, reading, etc.; spending money, or going out and spending unnecessarily; social contact, which includes calling or visiting a friend; and sad passivity, which refers to crying, sleeping, overeating, drinking, and doing drugs (Heinrich & Gullone, 2005; Rubenstein & Shaver, 1982). Perlman and Peplau (1979/1981) specified three similar responses to loneliness, including changing the desired level of social contact; achieving higher levels of social contact by meeting new friends or making fuller use of an existing network; and minimizing loneliness by suppressing emotional reactions or engaging in behaviors designed to alleviate the negative impact of loneliness (e.g. alcohol or drug use). Rokach and Brock (1998) also distinguished between three conceptual clusters of loneliness coping strategies. Similar to the categories of Peplau and Perlman (1979), responses included reflection and resource development, or the increased awareness of loneliness and reflecting on the experience in solitude; the rebuilding of social bridges/networks, or the participation in social activities and an increased effort to build social ties; and distancing and denial, or the need to deny feelings of loneliness and avoid this distressing experience through casual sex and substance use.

Rokach and Brock (1998) further examined these categories as a function of gender and marital status. Findings indicated that females were more likely to describe reflection and resource development as a useful strategy, whereas men were more likely to report participation in social activities. Married individuals were more likely to report relying on their social networks and reflection/acceptance as beneficial responses to loneliness. Conversely, single, divorced, and widowed individuals were more likely to report distance and denial (e.g. casual sex, substance use) as a common, though helpful, response to loneliness. Various other factors contribute to these coping responses, including but not limited to an individual's attributions for the causes of loneliness (e.g. unchangeable personal characteristics versus changeable personal or situational factors; Peplau, Miceli, & Morasch, 1982). Specifically, those with internal attributions for loneliness (e.g. deficit in personal character) tend to respond more passively, whereas individuals who attribute their loneliness to external events (e.g. loss of a loved one, isolating living conditions, etc.) are typically more likely to seek out social support and solutions to their loneliness.

Though individual attributions for loneliness are viable predictors of coping strategies, these coping responses are more often related to the frequency, or chronicity of loneliness. In general, evidence suggests that chronically lonely individuals tend to employ more avoidance-related coping, such as alcohol consumption, whereas the less lonely utilize more active strategies such as talking to friends and family (Cacioppo et al., 2000). For example, Rubenstein and Shaver (1982) examined reactions to loneliness via a questionnaire distributed through six American newspapers. The survey included the

question: "When you feel lonely, what do you usually do about it?" followed by 24 responses to loneliness and a measure of the frequency of loneliness. A factor analysis of the most commonly reported responses revealed four primary categories, each correlating with either chronic or transient states of loneliness. Specifically, responses in the sad passivity category (e.g., crying, sleeping, overeating, drinking or "getting stoned") were related to greater frequency of loneliness, while active solitude (e.g. writing or listening to music, reading), spending money, and increased social contact (e.g. calling a friend) categories were related to more transient states of loneliness. Wilson and Moulton (2010) similarly examined responses to loneliness in a sample of chronically lonely and nonlonely adults. Results indicated that chronically lonely people are more likely to cope with feelings of loneliness by watching television, going out by themselves, smoking, eating, drinking, sleeping, and surfing the internet. In contrast, those experiencing shorter bouts of loneliness were more likely to cope with feelings of loneliness by attending religious services, going out with family or friends, or talking to a friends or relatives (Wilson & Moulton, 2010).

Indeed, evidence suggests that the chronically lonely are less likely to make use of social capital/social resources and less likely to use active coping strategies (e.g. reaching out or seeking emotional support from others), and that these responses depend on factors such as attributions for and chronicity of loneliness. As previously discussed, the availability of social resources is thought to play a large role in influencing coping behaviors. However, research examining predictors of different responses to loneliness

has yet to explore such social resource variables (e.g. social integration) as potential moderators of loneliness-response associations.

Further, though researchers have examined the role of gender in influencing responses to loneliness showing that women are more likely to use strategies such as acceptance and self-reflection while men tend to increase social activity (e.g. Rokach & Brock, 1998) such research typically relies on retrospective reports of experiences of loneliness and associated behavioral responses. Further, gender differences in specific behavioral responses such as alcohol consumption have not been examined. Therefore potential gender differences in actual responses to daily loneliness are in need of further exploration. The previous stress and coping literature describes gender as playing a large role in the regulation and management of daily stress, moods, and emotion. In particular, Bolger, DeLongis, Kessler, and Schilling (1989) examined the effects of interpersonal conflict on daily mood in a sample of 166 married couples. Findings indicated that the effects of stress on mood were stronger for women than men. However, research by Gottman and Levenson (1988) provides evidence that men have stronger physiological reactivity to stress and emotions than women. Similarly, in her exploration of gender differences in stress reactivity, Taylor et al. (2000) argued that women respond to stress through the creation and maintenance of social ties (i.e. "tend-and-befriend"), whereas men respond to stress through withdrawal, aggression, or hostility (i.e. "fight-or-flight"). To the extent that loneliness is a stressful, negative emotional experience, it would be important to consider these known gender differences when examining daily responses to loneliness.

Outcomes of loneliness. Given that loneliness reflects deficits in interpersonal relationships, it is not surprising that it is related to similar health outcomes as the lack of social integration, or social isolation. Researchers have examined the joint effects of loneliness and social isolation on mortality, demonstrating that individuals with a large social network and those reporting less loneliness were less likely to die at follow-up than those with small networks and more loneliness (Penninx et al., 1997). Other studies have found that loneliness, as assessed by the UCLA Loneliness scale, is associated with poorer self-reported physical health (e.g. physical health status, symptoms, function, and health behaviors; Cornwell & Waite, 2009), low immune system functioning (Glaser, Kiecolt-Glaser, Speicher, & Holliday, 1985), and diminished cardiovascular health and systolic blood pressure (Hawkley, Burleson, Bernston, & Caccioppo, 2003; Hawkley, Masi, Berry, & Caccioppo, 2006). Additionally, one of the most commonly researched psychopathological outcomes of loneliness is depression (Cacioppo, Hughes, Waite, Hawkley, & Thisted, 2006), which is thought to develop over time among severely isolated individuals. Recently, researchers have also begun to examine *daily* experiences of loneliness, as predictive of outcomes such as daytime functioning and sleep duration (Hawkley, Preacher, & Cacioppo, 2010), daily cortisol production (Doane & Adam, 2010; Pressman et al., 2007), and internet use (Caplan, 2002/2005; Gross, Juvenon, & Gable, 2002). Specifically, daily loneliness is related to increased cortisol production and decreased quality of sleep and daytime functioning.

Generally, research has found that loneliness is also related to fewer healthpromoting behaviors, such as less exercise and poor nutrition (Heinrich & Gullone,

2006). However, studies examining associations between loneliness and negative health behaviors are less conclusive. Cacioppo et al. (2002) and Hawkley et al. (2003) demonstrated that chronically lonely and non-lonely individuals do not differ in daily alcohol, tobacco, or caffeine consumption, though lonely individuals reported greater recreational drug use. Conversely, Shankur et al. (2011) and Lauder et al. (2006) provided evidence that loneliness is related to increased smoking and less physical activity, in addition to slightly more alcohol consumption. Similarly, Akerlind and Hornquist (1992) associated the ongoing experience of loneliness with the development of alcohol abuse and dependence problems. Such findings suggest both comparable and differential patterns of behavior (e.g. alcohol consumption, cigarette use, physical activity) for lonely and non-lonely individuals. However, much of the research examining loneliness and health behaviors (e.g. alcohol consumption, physical activity, etc.) employs cross-sectional measures of loneliness and health behaviors (e.g. UCLA Loneliness Scale; Russell et al., 1980), therefore limiting findings to the more stable, chronic experiences of loneliness. Such measures also fail to capture the fluctuating, state-like (i.e. transient) experiences of loneliness which may be related to various patterns of daily health behavior. Given that loneliness, particularly transient loneliness, is a commonly reported experience, and is known to fluctuate within-person and across days (Gross et al., 2002; Larsen, 1999), examining within-person associations between daily loneliness and health behavioral responses would seem a logical next step in further unpacking a behavior-focused model of this negative affective experience. Additionally,

such research would provide a greater understanding of transient loneliness as a unique negative affective experience.

Daily Process Methods

Whereas much research has examined loneliness and related health outcomes through the use of cross-sectional measures (e.g. Hawkley, et al., 2003; Lauder et al., 2006; Shankur et al., 2011), less research has examined the state-like fluctuations in loneliness. Methodological designs, such as daily process research, which employ assessments multiple times per day per participant, would allow for the examination of these fluctuating mood experiences and subsequent behavioral outcomes. Not only do such research designs minimize retrospective bias (Cooper, Frone, Russell, & Mudar et al., 1995), but they also allow the researcher to examine antecedents, correlates, and consequences of daily experiences, individual differences in these associations, as well as the sources of these differences (Bolger, Davis, & Refaeli, 2003). Such daily methods would be particularly beneficial for loneliness research, as they would capture the diurnal and day-to-day variability in loneliness and behavioral responses, as previously described.

Daily loneliness and health outcomes. Despite the various benefits of daily process design, researchers are only slowly beginning to explore momentary, transient experiences of loneliness and subsequent behavioral responses through daily process and experience sampling research methods. In example, Doane and Adam (2010) examined daily and momentary state variations in loneliness and changes in cortisol production. Results indicated that prior day feelings of loneliness were associated next morning
increases in cortisol, and that momentary experiences of loneliness throughout the day were associated with momentary increases in cortisol, particularly for those with high interpersonal stress. Hawkley, Preacher, and Caccioppo (2010) similarly examined daily loneliness, though in relation to daytime functioning and sleep duration. Using a diary method to capture daily sleep, fatigue, low energy, sleepiness, loneliness, physical symptoms, and depressed affect, Hawkley and colleagues revealed that daily loneliness predicted subsequent daytime sleepiness, fatigue, and low energy, even when depressed affect was held constant. These studies are novel, as they demonstrate that daily loneliness is indeed consequential to health. However, though such studies assess daily health outcomes (e.g. health dysfunction, sleep, and cortisol production) they do not examine the associations between daily loneliness and daily health behaviors.

As a part of a larger study examining daily loneliness and immune system functioning, Pressman and colleagues (2005) did examine differential daily health practices (e.g. sleep, smoking, alcohol consumption, and exercise) as a function of daily loneliness. Over a period of 13-days participants recorded loneliness and affect four times a day and health practices once a day, when alerted to respond by a handheld electronic computer. Diary responses for loneliness and mood were averaged across the four daily assessments, creating daily loneliness scores; health behaviors were averaged across the thirteen days. Results indicated that loneliness was not associated with physical activity, smoking, alcohol consumption, or sleep duration, as assessed by the daily diaries. Loneliness was, however, associated with higher sleep loss and poorer sleep quality over the 13-day diary period. Though Pressman and colleagues (2005)

clearly assessed the associations between daily loneliness and health practices, including alcohol consumption, they were examining average daily loneliness as predicting average daily health behaviors, rather than the within-person associations between variations in loneliness and subsequent health behavior. Further, Pressman and colleagues did not explore these health behaviors as potential responses to loneliness. Previous daily process research has specifically examined alcohol consumption as a common healthrelated response to negative affect (e.g. Cooper, Russell, & Frone, 1995; Mohr et al., 2001a). Considering that alcohol consumption is one known response to loneliness, examining the within-person, time-contingent associations between loneliness and subsequent drinking behavior would provide a greater understanding of transient loneliness as well as associated patterns of responses.

Motivational models of alcohol consumption. Various researchers have explored alcohol consumption as a risk behavior, the practice of which is largely related to daily stress, social contacts, and interpersonal events (Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al, 2001; Mohr et al., 2005). Through the use of daily process methods, researchers have unlocked various mysteries about alcohol consumption. Specifically, researchers have discovered that negative mood is a primary motivation for alcohol consumption, leading to the development a variety of motivational models of consumption. Central to these motivational models is Conger's (1956) *tension reduction hypothesis*, which suggests that alcohol consumption reduces stress, therefore reinforcing alcohol use as a coping behavior and creating a problematic cycle of consumption associated with heavy drinking and alcohol dependence and/or abuse. According to this hypothesis and subsequent

research, daily moods, interpersonal exchanges, and daily stress are associated with subsequent increases in alcohol use (Cooper, Frone, Russell, & Mudar, 1995; Hussong, Hicks, Levy, & Curran, 2001; McCreary & Sadava, 1998; Moos et al., 1990).

Drawing from Conger's theory, Cooper and colleagues (1995) conceptualized a drinking-to-cope hypothesis, which argues that the regulation of negative mood is a primary motive for alcohol consumption. Previous research examining mood-motivated consumption has provided evidence that such drinking-to-cope behavior is related to maladaptive forms of emotion-focused coping, which aims to reduce the aversive experience of negative mood, and that such patterns consumption may contribute to the further development of alcohol dependence (Cooper et al, 1995). Cooper and colleagues (1992) have also identified *social drinking motives* (e.g. drinking to be sociable; drinking to make a social gathering more enjoyable) and *enhancement motives* (e.g. drinking to prolong or enhancement of positive moods), and *conformity motives* (e.g. drinking in response to social pressures) which have similarly been shown to play a large role in determining drinking behavior (Carey & Correia, 1997; Cooper, Russell, Skinner, & Windle, 1992). Cooper's (1994) four-factor model of motives (i.e. drinking-to-cope, social, enhancement, and conformity motives) provides evidence that alcohol consumption is a very normative behavior associated with a variety of different motivational antecedents.

In examining different motives for alcohol consumption, Cooper and colleagues have also explored drinking context (i.e. social versus solitary consumption), demonstrating that consumption in social and solitary contexts represent distinct drinking

behaviors. Further research has provided evidence that drinking motives, particularly drinking-to-cope, uniquely relate to consumption in specific contexts (Cooper, 1994). In example, Mohr and colleagues (2001a) examined the tension reduction and drinking-tocope hypotheses in a study of interpersonal experiences, social context, and alcohol consumption. Unique to this study was the examination of consumption in social versus solitary contexts following positive and negative interpersonal events. Each day for 30days, participants reported drinking behavior and social context on a handheld electronic computer, followed by nightly assessments of positive and negative interpersonal exchanges. Results indicated that participants engaged in more solitary drinking on days with more negative social contacts, and more social consumption on days with more positive social contacts. In a similar study, Mohr and colleagues (2005) examined daily social contacts, moods and drinking in different contexts among a sample of college students. Findings indicated that participants drank more at home on days with more negative interpersonal exchanges and negative moods, and more away from home on days with more positive interpersonal exchanges positive moods. Furthermore, these associations were moderated by drinking motivations (i.e. drinking to cope), and time spent with friends. Those endorsing high drinking-to-cope motivations drank more at home following negative social contacts and negative moods and, as time spent with friends increased, the effects of negative contacts and moods on drinking at home decreased. These findings are in line with those of Cooper's (1994) study, which demonstrated that drinking-top-cope typically occurs in solitary contexts. Interestingly, research examining drinking contexts as related to social and enhancement motives is less

conclusive, providing evidence that such drinking occurs in both social and solitary contexts (e.g. Mohr et al., 2001a).

Previous daily process research has provided ample evidence of negative moodrelated consumption, yet no research to date has examined daily experiences of loneliness in the context of tension reduction and drinking-to-cope hypotheses. Furthermore, previous research exploring loneliness and drinking behavior has primarily examined average consumption across contexts, therefore not distinguishing between social and solitary drinking experiences. This is problematic, as research exploring motivational models of alcohol consumption reveals that context does matter (i.e. drinking to cope as related to solitary consumption). Additionally, research has provided evidence that differential responses to loneliness occur in both social and solitary contexts. For example, sad passivity responses are known to include solitary drinking behavior, thus relating to drinking-to-cope and solitary consumption; whereas more active responses, such as social contact, involve seeking increased participation in social activities (Heinrich & Gullone, 2005; Rubenstein & Shaver, 1982). Such social contact, however, could potentially be in a drinking context, therefore relating to social contexts of consumption and social enhancement motives. Given existing alcohol research providing evidence of motivational and contextual patterns of drinking behavior, examining loneliness-related consumption in both social and solitary drinking contexts would make a large and unique contribution to the current loneliness literature.

Stress-vulnerability models of alcohol consumption. In addition to negative mood-related drinking, daily process research has also examined *stress-vulnerability*

models of alcohol consumption, which propose that certain individuals are particularly vulnerable to affect-motivated drinking patterns (Armeli et al., 2000). Various researchers have tested these stress-vulnerability models by examining the moderating influence of variables including gender, alcohol expectances, drinking motivations, and (of greatest relevance to this current study) social support, on negative mood-related drinking associations (Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al., 2001a; Mohr et al., 2005; Steptoe et al., 1995).

In example, Armeli and colleagues (2000) examined how within-person associations between stress, alcohol use, and desire to drink varied as a function of gender, alcohol expectancies, and coping style. Using a sample 88 adults, the researchers administered a daily diary methodology, through which participants recorded daily events, stress, alcohol consumption, and desire to drink once a day for 60 days. Results indicated that men reported more alcohol consumption overall, and that men who predicted positive effects of alcohol (e.g. positive alcohol expectancies) drank more on stressful days, and men who predicted negative effects of alcohol drank less on stressful days. Interestingly, these effects did not hold for women. These results suggest that gender and alcohol expectancies play a unique role in influencing within-person stress and drinking associations.

In a similar study, Hussong et al. (2001) explored daily negative moods, context (weekend versus weekday drinking), and drinking behavior in a sample of college students, in addition the moderating influence of gender and social support on these associations. Results indicated that, for both men and women, weekday drinking was

associated with increased sadness over the following weekend. For men, increased sadness during the week predicted less weekend drinking. Further, both men and women low in social support were more likely to drink on weekdays following weekends with sadness, and these weekend experiences of drinking predicted increases in sadness over the following week. While those high in social support also showed patterns of increased consumption following negative moods, drinking was not related to subsequent increases in negative moods for these individuals. Interestingly, Hussong et al. (2001) also demonstrated that for those individuals with high social support, drinking-to-cope may have been an effective means of reducing negative affect. That is, these individuals had supportive others who provided alternative means of coping besides drinking behavior.

Though individual differences in social support have been examined within the context of the stress-vulnerability model of alcohol consumption (e.g. Armeli et al., 2000), researchers have yet to examine the moderating influence of social integration (diversity of network ties and participation) on specific mood-related patterns of consumption. In a recent study, however, Cohen and Lemay (2007) examined the moderating influence of social integration on the association between daily social interactions and health behavior (i.e. smoking and alcohol consumption) over a 14-day period via daily process methods. Results indicated that greater social integration was associated with more daily social interactions, as well as reduced alcohol and cigarette consumption. Further, the more social interactions participants reported during the day, the greater their alcohol and tobacco consumption. However, these associations were attenuated by higher levels of social integration. Specifically, the effects of number of

interaction partners on daily alcohol and cigarette consumption were greater for the less socially integrated. Social integration also significantly moderated the effects of daily interactions on affect, such that those high in SI reported high levels of positive affect regardless of number of interaction partners, whereas affect significantly increased with the number of interaction partners for those low in social integration.

In discussing the above results, Cohen and Lemay (2007) suggested the possibility of social integration indirectly influences health behavior through the experience of loneliness (e.g. loneliness model; Cacioppo et al., 2003; Stroebe & Stroebe, 1996; Uchino, 2006). Based on this research, along with known motivational models of alcohol consumption, and the relative dearth of research examining loneliness-related alcohol consumption in different contexts, I propose an in-depth examination of withinperson patterns of daily loneliness and subsequent social and solitary drinking behavior. Further, based on stress-vulnerability models of consumption, as well as the preliminary work of Cohen and Lemay (2007), I propose to examine how these associations differ as a function of social integration.

Gaps In The Literature

In sum, various researchers have provided evidence linking social integration and loneliness to psychological well-being (e.g. positive and negative affect), physical health (e.g. mortality, morbidity), health behavior (e.g. alcohol consumption) and coping behavior (Berkman & Breslow, 1984; Cacioppo et al., 2000; Cacioppo et al, 2003; Fondacaro & Moos, 1987; Holahan & Moos, 1987; Wilson & Moulton, 2010). Furthermore, though social isolation is known to predispose individuals to experiences of

loneliness, few researchers have explored the combined effects of social integration and loneliness on health and health behavioral outcomes. Moreover, existing research comparing health behaviors of lonely and non-lonely individuals is inconclusive, showing differential and comparable patterns of risk behavior for lonely and non-lonely individuals. However, such research predominantly employs cross-sectional measures of chronic loneliness, therefore revealing little about fluctuating, transient experiences of loneliness and subsequent health behavioral responses. Given relatively recent research which suggests strong associations between daily events, negative moods, and alcohol consumption (e.g. Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al., 2001a; Mohr et al., 2005), as well as theory and research linking loneliness to sad passivity responses such as alcohol consumption (e.g. Heinrich & Gullone, 2005; Rubenstein & Shaver, 1982), it would be useful to explore daily loneliness in the context of mood-related drinking behavior.

In addition, previous daily process research has examined negative moods as predictors of drinking in different contexts (i.e. social versus solitary); similarly, categories of coping responses to loneliness also relate to distinct contexts. Specifically, sad passivity responses are associated with solitary behavior, while more active responses such as social contact are related to increased social participation. However, no study to date has examined daily social and/or solitary responses to loneliness through the use of daily process methodology. Further, though existing research exploring stressorvulnerability models of consumption has included social support as a moderating variable, no study to date has examined negative mood-drinking associations as a function of social integration. Lastly, though gender is known to moderate the

associations between stress, negative mood, and alcohol consumption (e.g. Armeli et al., 2000; Bolger et al., 1989), few have considered the influence of gender on behavioral responses to loneliness. Therefore, investigating the within-day variability of the aforementioned constructs, as well as the moderating influence of social integration and gender on loneliness—consumption associations, is a critical step in further understanding the powerful effects of social relationships on health behavior.

Present Study

In this study, I examined the within-person associations among daily experiences of loneliness and subsequent social and solitary alcohol consumption. In line with previous social integration-health literature and theories of social control, which suggest that being more integrated in a network of social ties is related to reduced risk behavior (e.g. Berkman & Syme, 1979; Umberson, 1992), and that the availability of social resources and gender are known to influence coping strategies and reactivity to daily stress, I explored how associations between daily loneliness and alcohol consumption differ as a function of social integration and gender.



Specifically, I explored the following research questions: Do individuals report more evening solitary consumption, relative to their typical levels of solitary consumption, on days with more reported loneliness? Do individuals report more evening social consumption, relative to their typical levels of social consumption, on days with more reported loneliness? Furthermore, do these associations vary based on individual differences in social integration and gender?

Hypotheses

It is important to note that in all of my analyses, I controlled for age and mean 30day loneliness. The decision to control for these variables was based on previous social integration and health literature, as well as previous research and theories of loneliness. Further, including average loneliness over the 30-day study allowed for a comprehensive examination of the isolated effects which changes in daily loneliness have on alcohol consumption, controlling for average levels of loneliness

Hypothesis 1a and research question #1 (within-person loneliness—social and solitary consumption associations)

Hypothesis 1a: Consistent with the tension-reduction hypothesis and sad-passivity responses to loneliness (**a**) I hypothesized a significant within-person association between loneliness and subsequent solitary alcohol consumption. Specifically, I predicted that at times with more loneliness, people would report greater subsequent solitary alcohol consumption relative to times when they reported less loneliness.

Though previous daily process research has explored social drinking contexts in relation to negative mood-related consumption, findings are less consistent than for

solitary drinking. However, loneliness—social consumption associations would be useful to explore, as social drinking could reflect more active responses to loneliness (e.g. seeking social contact). Therefore, I explored the following research question:

Research Question #1: Is there a significant within-person association between loneliness and subsequent social consumption?

Hypothesis 2a-d (associations of mean social and solitary consumption with social integration): Previous research examining social integration and health risk behavior has demonstrated that those reporting greater social integration lead significantly healthier lifestyles (e.g. appropriate use of alcohol) and that increases in social isolation predict greater alcohol and cigarette consumption (e.g. Berkman & Breslow, 1973/1983; Berkman et al., 2000; Cohen, 1991).

Hypothesis 2a-b (association of mean social and solitary consumption with gender): Therefore, I hypothesized that social integration would significantly and negatively predict mean daily solitary alcohol consumption, such that (**a**) those who are higher in social integration would report lower levels of average daily solitary consumption. I also predicted that (**b**) social integration would significantly and positively predict social consumption, such that those higher in social integration would report greater levels of social consumption than those lower in social integration (potentially more friends to drink with).

Hypothesis 2c-d (associations of mean social and solitary consumption with gender): Previous research has provided evidence that men typically report higher levels

of consumption than women. Therefore, I predicted that men would report higher mean levels of (c) social and (d) solitary consumption than women.

Hypothesis 3a-d (cross-level associations): Research has provided evidence for an association between social support, loneliness, and coping strategies (Cacioppo & Hawkley, 2003; Holahan & Moos, 1987). Specifically, recent daily process research examining mood-related alcohol consumption demonstrates weaker negative mooddrinking associations for individuals with greater environmental, friend, and family support resources (Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al., 2005; Holahan & Moos, 1987; Steptoe et al., 1996). Research has also demonstrated that individuals with more socially supportive resources and those who are less lonely tend to employ more active, problemfocused coping strategies (e.g. support seeking, and drawing on social capital); whereas more isolated individuals and those experiencing more enduring loneliness are more likely to employ avoidance coping strategies (e.g. alcohol consumption).

Hypothesis 3a-b: Consistent with this research, (**a**) I hypothesized that social integration would moderate the association between daily loneliness and solitary consumption, such that those lower in social integration would report stronger loneliness—solitary consumption associations than those who are more integrated. (**b**) I also predicted that social integration would moderate the association between loneliness and social consumption, such that those higher in social integration would report a stronger loneliness—social consumption associations than those lower in social integration, as those higher in social integration may have more opportunity to drink with others.

Hypotheses 3c-d: Previous research suggests that men and women show different patterns of negative mood-related consumption (Mohr et al., 2001a). Specifically, evidence suggests that not only do men report typically higher levels of alcohol consumption, but also that men are more likely to externalize distress through drinking than women (Hussong et al., 2001). Further, research and theory suggests that women are more likely than men to drawn on social support in times of need (Taylor et al., 2000). Therefore, I hypothesized that gender would moderate the associations between (c) solitary and (d) social consumption, such that men would report stronger within-person associations between loneliness and subsequent social and solitary consumption than women.

Methods

Overview

To address these research questions, I conducted a secondary analysis of data collected through a larger study examining daily alcohol use and emotion regulation, originally directed by Cynthia Mohr, Ph.D. Using daily process methodology, this research investigated daily positive and negative social interactions, stress, positive and negative moods, and health behaviors for a group of 49 community-dwelling adults. Participants were recruited through internet postings, flyers and local newspapers dispersed through the greater Portland Metropolitan area. Those who met criteria for current or lifetime alcohol dependence and/or abuse within five years of the interview were excluded from this study, therefore limiting the sample to moderate and heavy drinkers. Eligible and interested participants completed a variety of initial assessment measures, followed by a 30-day daily diary, completed via a handheld electronic diary. Participants were alerted three times a day (mid-morning, late afternoon, and evening) to complete a three minute survey via the electronic diary.

Participants

This sample included a total of 49 community-dwelling adults, composed of 25 men and 24 women (47 participants with usable data). Given exclusion criteria of alcohol abuse/dependence, this sample included only moderate to heavy drinkers. Mean age of participants was 37 (SD = 16.77), and ages ranged from 21 to 88 years. Ninety percent of participants were Caucasian, 2% were African-American, and 6% were Hispanic/Latino/Spanish. Thirty-six percent of participants were married or cohabitating,

45% single or never married, 16% divorced/widowed. Ninety percent identified as heterosexual; 4% as bisexual; 6% as gay or lesbian. Fifteen percent had a high school diploma or GED; 36% had completed some college or bachelors degree; 15% had a gradate or professional degree. Additionally, 77% percent held a full time job; 57% had an income less than \$44,000, and 25% made between \$44,000-\$77,000 a year.

Initial Assessment

Eligible and interested participants were invited to partake in further screening. At this screening, trained research assistants administered the Computerized Diagnostic Interview Schedule IV (C-DIS; Robins, Cottler, Bukholz, & Compton, 2000), a measure of general mental health including current and past alcohol dependence or abuse. Participants who did not meet the criteria for current or past dependence or abuse (within the past 5 years), completed informed consent and initial baseline assessment measures. For the purpose of this study, I will describe only those measures relevant to my hypotheses and data analyses.

Social Network Index. Participants completed a 12-item Social Network Index, SNI (Berkman & Syme, 1979; Cohen et al., 1997), which assesses participation in 12 types of relationships (e.g. relationships with spouse, parents, friends, workmates, schoolmates, fellow volunteers, etc.). The items included questions such as: "How many children do you have?", "How many close friends do you have?" and "How many of these friends do you see or talk to at least once every two weeks?" Participants were asked to rate the number that is most true for them on an 8-point scale, ranging from 0 to 7 or more. Other items included questions such as "Are you currently employed either

full time or part-time (if not, check 'no' and skip to question 10)..." (if yes) "How many people do you supervise?"; "Are you currently involved in regular volunteer work? ('Yes' or 'No'). Based on previous research utilizing this measure (Cohen et al., 1997; Cohen & Lemay, 2007), I computed social integration by assigning one point for each relationship in which participants reported speaking to someone at least once every 2 weeks. The highest possible score on this measure is a 12, with higher scores indicating greater social integration (see Appendix A). Typically, internal consistency of the social network index cannot be calculated because it is not a scale but a summary measure (Melchior, Berkman, Niedhammer, Chea, & Goldberg, 2003).

Demographic variables of interest. Participants also answered a basic demographic questionnaire including information on age, gender, educational attainment, income, ethnicity, and personality assessments etc.; of interest to this proposed study are gender and age.

Researchers taking a life-stage perspective of loneliness have provided evidence of age differences in experiences of loneliness; specifically, loneliness is highest in young adults, tends to decline in mid-life, and modestly increases with old age (Perlman, 1990). Further, research examining the health and health behavioral effects of social integration typically includes age as a covariate. Therefore, I have chosen to include age as a control variable in all of my analyses. Lastly, as described in my hypotheses, I will be examining the moderating effects of gender on loneliness—drinking person associations

Daily Diary Protocol

Following initial assessment surveys, participants were trained on handheld electronic interviewing devices. Participants were instructed that they would receive alerts three times a day for thirty days (mid-morning, afternoon, and evening), signaling them to complete a three minute self-report survey (see Appendix B). The following variables were assessed on this survey, though I have included only the ones relevant to the current study.

Daily loneliness. At each daily measurement point (morning, afternoon, and evening) participants completed a mood assessment adapted from the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS; Watson et al., 1988). Previous research has demonstrated that the PANAS is a reliable measure of positive and negative affect, with alphas ranging from .86-.90 for positive affect and .84-.87 for negative affect. For the purpose of this study, daily loneliness was assessed as one of the negative affect items on the PANAS. Participants were asked to indicate how lonely they felt since the last interview, based on a 5-point Likert-type scale, with responses ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). I included daily loneliness as a level-1 predictor variable and average loneliness over the 30-day study as a control variable.

Daily alcohol consumption. Participants recorded alcohol consumption at each time point by indicating the number of alcohol beverages consumed since the previous interview. It is important to note that the morning interview assessed drinking which occurred during the previous evening; the afternoon interview assessed drinking which occurred during the day; and the evening interview captured drinking which had occurred

since the last (e.g. afternoon) interview. Participants were trained at initial assessment to recognize standard drink sizes, based on the NIAAA (National Institute on Alcohol Abuse and Alcoholism) criteria (i.e. one drink is defined as one 12 oz. can/bottle of beer, 8 oz. malt liqueur, 5 oz. glass of wine, one 12 oz. bottled wine cooler, or 1.5 oz. of straight liquor or in a mixed drink).

Drinking context. Following the assessment of daily consumption, participants were asked to indicate whether drinking had occurred at *home* or *away from home*, and whether they were "alone," "interacting with others who were drinking," "interacting with others who were not drinking,", "not interacting and not drinking,", or "nor interacting and others were drinking" (check all that apply). Participants were then asked to indicate how many drinks were consumed in each context (0 to > 12). To reduce the number of context specific categories, I focused my analyses on drinking which occurred at *home alone* (e.g. drinking home alone; solitary consumption) and *away from home while interacting with others who were also drinking* (e.g. drinking with others; social consumption). Previous daily process research has used similar categorizations in representation of social and solitary consumption (e.g. Mohr et al., 2001a).

Data Analysis

Before exploring the hypothesized within-person associations and cross-level interactions, it was necessary to go through a series of steps to prepare the data for statistical analyses. The following sections discuss this process, specifically variable creation and centering; participant compliance; missing data; checking of distributional assumptions; as well as day of the week and time of day trends for consumption and loneliness variables. I will also provide descriptive information and correlational statistics for the data, and present results of the hierarchical data analyses.

Variable Creation

Drinking outcome variables. In order to assess associations between loneliness and different drinking outcomes (i.e. social and solitary consumption), it was necessary to create two different variables based on reports of consumption and drinking context, as recorded in the daily survey. For each survey time point I summed the number of drinks consumed at *home alone* to create the solitary consumption variable. To create the social consumption variable, I summed the number of drinks consumed *away with others*. Previous research with this data set has shown that these particular combinations of drinking variables provide accurately capture daily solitary and social consumption.

Daily loneliness variable. Daily loneliness was assessed using a single item on the PANAS mood measure. To create the daily loneliness variable, I isolated the loneliness item from the negative affect subscale and created a single column in SPSS to represent loneliness at each time point (i.e. intervals 1-3 per day). Loneliness was rated

on a Likert-type scale of 0 ("not at all") to 4 ("extremely"), in response to the question "How lonely have you felt since the last interview?"

Lagged variables. To account for temporal ordering of the daily diary data, I lagged the person-centered loneliness variable by participant ID (recall that morning interviews assessed late evening consumption for the previous day). Lagging the loneliness variable allowed me to predict evening consumption from daytime loneliness, or drinking at time point two from loneliness at a previous time point. I created the lagged loneliness variable using SPSS syntax, which shifted raw scores for daily loneliness down by one cell.

Between-person variables. Between-person variables of relevance to this study were gender, age, mean 30-day loneliness, and social integration. Age and gender (men=0, women=1) were assessed via a basic demographics survey administered during initial assessment. I created the mean 30-day loneliness variable by using the aggregate function in SPSS to compute within-person means of the daily loneliness scores across the 30 days of the study. Age and mean 30-day loneliness were included as control variables in all of my analyses.

Social integration was computed as per the instructions Cohen and colleagues (1997). The number of social ties and the frequency of contact with these ties were obtained using the Social Network Index (Cohen et al., 1997). Items pertaining to family (e.g. marital status, number of children, parents, in-laws, etc.), friend, neighbor, and coworker ties, as well as participation in church/religious organization, volunteer organizations, were summed to compute a total social integration score for each

participant. Higher scores indicated greater levels of social integration (i.e. greater diversity of social ties). Because social integration was assessed via a summary, or count measure (Social Network Index; Cohen et al., 1997), it was not appropriate to assess internal consistency.

Centering. To aid in interpretation and to prevent potential problems with multicollinearity, I centered all of my predictor variables (i.e. daily loneliness, gender, social integration) and covariates (i.e. age, mean 30-day loneliness), as per the suggestion of Tabachnick and Fidell (2007). Because I was interested in examining how shifts from average levels of daily loneliness predict subsequent daily drinking outcomes, I personcentered the daily loneliness variable by subtracting each participants' mean loneliness from his/her raw daily scores. Therefore, the Level 1 intercept can be interpreted as the predicted level of social and solitary consumption at each person's average level of daily loneliness. I also grand mean centered all Level 2 predictors (i.e. social integration, age, gender), by subtracting the mean of these variables across participants from each individual's raw score. This allowed me to interpret the Level 1 intercept as the expected amount of social and solitary alcohol consumption at mean levels of social integration, age, and gender.

Dummy codes for day of the week and time of day. Prior daily process research has elucidated day of the week and time of day trends of alcohol consumption and loneliness (e.g. Armeli et al., 2000; Larson, Csikszentmihalyi, & Graef, 1982; Mohr et al., 2001a). Therefore, I created six dummy coded day of the week variables (Tuesday used as a contrast), and one time of day dummy coded variable (evening interview as the

contrast) to control for these effects. Day of the week and time of day variables were modeled as fixed effects, as per suggestion of Bryk and Raudenbush (1992). Day of the week and time of day trends for alcohol consumption and loneliness will be discussed in further detail in the results section.

Missing Data

Given that daily process methodology requires significantly more time and effort from participants than a single cross-sectional survey, missing data, compliance, and attrition are frequent occurrences. Further, missing data may particularly problematic in daily process research, as it causes unbalanced data and may be of cost to power (Engel & Diehr, 2003; Raudenbush & Bryk, 2002, West & Hepworth, 1991). Therefore, it was important to conduct a thorough examination of potential trends in missing data to ensure that this data was truly missing at random. To do this, I first computed the overall compliance of participants on the daily surveys. Compliance was determined by the number of completed survey days (completed loneliness assessment) out of 30 divided by the total possible amount of survey observations (47 participants*3 surveys a day*30 days=4,230 possible observations). Participants completed a total of 3,329 surveys, resulting in compliance of 78%, which is comparable to compliance in previous daily diary studies (e.g. Mohr et al., 2005).

To examine potential trends in missing data, I aggregated the number of missing daily surveys within participants and then used a series of multiple regressions and t-tests to look for differences in missing data based on social integration, gender, age, mean loneliness, education, income, and marital status. Results indicated that there were no

significant differences in missing data based on gender, age, social integration, mean loneliness, education, income, marital status. Therefore, I concluded that data was truly missing at random.

It is important to note that, following my examination of potential trends in missing data, I eliminated participants who were missing between-person variables of interest, specifically gender and social integration (between-person). Three participants were missing social integration scores, therefore my final sample size for the Level 2 between-person data file was 44 (22 males, 22 females), while the Level 1 within-person data file included daily survey information from 47 participants (25 males, 24 females).

Distributional Assumptions

In preparing for hierarchical data analysis, it was necessary to examine my predictor and outcome variables to confirm that basic distributional assumptions of regression analyses had been met. Therefore, I conducted a thorough exploration of frequencies, histograms, and descriptive information for all continuous predictor and outcome variables. Further, I examined standardized scores, as well as Mahalanobis distances for combinations of predictor and outcome variables, to screen for univariate and multivariate outliers.

Distribution of predictor variables. Examination of histograms revealed that reports of social integration followed a normal distribution (M=5.96, SD=1.89), while mean loneliness (M=1.39, SD=.47), age, and daily loneliness (M=1.38, SD=.72) were positively skewed. Given that I was not making statistical inferences about these predictors, the positive skew of these variables was not of much concern and no data

transformations were required. However, I did log transform mean loneliness when I was testing for gender differences in this variable, as well as daily loneliness when exploring day of the week and time of day trends. Gender differences and data trends are described in the results section.

Distribution of outcome variables. Examination of histograms for social and solitary consumption revealed that both variables were very positively skewed; this is common, given that the drinking survey questions yielded count data. Specifically, the majority of drinks recorded per context per day were zero; therefore, the drinking variables can be classified as following a non-normal distribution. As in previous daily diary research with a non-normal distribution of the outcome variable (e.g. Bryk, Raudenbush, & Congdon, 1996; Gagnon, Doron-LaMarca, Bell, O'Farrell, & Taft, 2008), I decided to model the data as a Poisson distribution. Previous researchers have suggested that count data follow a Poisson distribution, particularly for zero-inflated distributions (Reis & Judd, 2009, p. 408-409).

Time of day comparisons for the drinking variables also revealed very low rates of social (M=.08, SD=.49) and solitary (M=.02, SD=.17) consumption reported during the afternoon interview. Further exploration of afternoon consumption revealed significant differences between afternoon consumption with morning and evening consumption for both solitary (afternoon vs. evening, *t*-ratio = -6.03, *p* < .001; afternoon vs. morning, *t*-ratio = -5.61, *p* < .001) and social consumption (afternoon vs. evening, *t*ratio = -5.692, *p* < .001, afternoon vs. morning, *t*-ratio = -6.97, *p* < .001) such that participants reported less consumption in the afternoon compared to other times of the

day. An examination of means plots confirmed these differences, showing that consumption during the afternoon interview was near zero. Therefore, I limited my analyses to the morning and evening interviews for both drinking outcomes, representing late last night's and early evening consumption. Following the removal of the second interview, I reexamined the distributions of social and solitary consumption to confirm that these variables still followed a non-normal distribution. Histograms confirmed that both drinking outcomes were still positively skewed, therefore it was necessary to model the data using a Poisson distribution.

Screening for outliers. Examination of standardized scores for predictor and outcome variables revealed non-extreme values (e.g. z-scores less than 3.30) for social integration, mean loneliness, daily loneliness, and social and solitary consumption. One potential outlier was flagged within the age variable (i.e. 88 year old). However, in visually inspecting the data I could see that this individual's responses to social integration, consumption, and loneliness variables did not stand out in comparison to the other participants. Further, I created an alternative data set excluding this participant's data, and reran all of my analyses in HLM using this new data set. Results were nearly identical to my previous analyses; therefore, it was safe to include this participant's data in subsequent analyses.

Mahalanobis distances were also computed for combinations of predictor and outcome variables to screen for multivariate outliers (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007). These values were then compared to a chi-square critical value of 22.46 (degrees of freedom=6). With a maximum just above the chi-square critical value (23.24), this test of

Mahalanobis distances indicated a potential multivariate outlier. Though screening for multivariate outliers is crucial, it is possible that outliers are artifacts of a non-normal distribution, or of a particular sample of the target population. In such cases, outliers can remain in the distribution and the data can be transformed to reduce their impact (Tabachnick & Fidell, 2007, p. 76-77). Because I had already decided to use a Poisson distribution to account for the non-normal distributions of my outcome variables, these potential multivariate outliers were not of much concern to my analyses.

Data Structure

In this study, participants completed surveys three times a day for 30 days (90 interviews per person), giving a possible total of 4,230 daily interviews (Level 1) nested within 47 participants (Level 2). However, I limited my data analyses to the first and last daily interview, given the low rates of alcohol consumption reported during the afternoon survey assessment; this gave me total of 2,820 survey observations. Kreft and De Leeuw (1998) argue that 30 observations per 30 participants, yielding 900 person observations, provide sufficient power to test within-person associations and cross-level interactions. Based on these criteria, I had sufficient power to test my hypothesized effects.

Due to the nested nature of daily process data (daily assessments nested within person), I conducted a series of multi-level regression analyses to examine within-person and between-person effects. Due to the unbalanced number of observations per individual, resulting from unequal amounts of missing data per participant, I conducted all of my analyses using Hierarchical Linear Modeling software (HLM, v.6.0; Raudenbush, Bryk, Cheong, & Congdon, 2000), which was designed to deal with

unbalanced data. Such analyses and statistical software allowed me to test a two-level model composed of (Level-1) within-person effects of daily loneliness on daily alcohol consumption in different drinking contexts, as well as the moderating influence of (Level-2) social integration and gender on daily loneliness, social and solitary drinking associations.

Using this two-level model, I modeled within-person outcomes (e.g. social and solitary consumption) as a function of within-person predictors (i.e. daily loneliness; Level-1). In the Level-2 equation, I modeled these Level-1 associations (slopes and intercepts; i.e. associations between daily loneliness and subsequent alcohol use) as outcomes of between-person predictors (i.e. social integration and gender). It is important to note that I modeled the intercepts and the daily loneliness slope as random, allowing them to vary within participants. Further, I modeled the day of the week and time of day covariates as fixed, as per the suggestion of Bryk and Raudenbush (1992). This model allowed me to examine how the associations between daily loneliness and subsequent alcohol consumption differ at different levels of social integration and by gender, controlling for day of the week and time of day.

Results

Descriptive Statistics

Prior to running hierarchical data analyses, I examined relevant descriptive and correlational statistics for my variables of interest. Specifically, I explored gender differences in each of my study variables (i.e. social integration, age, mean 30-day loneliness, daily loneliness, social consumption, solitary consumption), examined demographic correlates of social integration, correlational statistics among all variables of interest, and explored day of the week and time of day trends for loneliness and alcohol consumption.

Results of an independent samples t-test revealed that men and women did not differ in social integration, age, mean loneliness, daily loneliness, or average social and solitary consumption over the course of the 30-day study. There were, however, significant gender differences in daily solitary consumption (t(21629.10)= -3.26, p=.001), and differences trending towards significance in social consumption (t(2149.67)= -1.64, p=.100), such that men consumed more alcohol in both contexts.

On average, participants reported mid-range levels of social integration (M=5.95, SD=1.89) as assessed by the Social Network Index (Berkman & Syme, 1979; Cohen et al., 2007; highest social integration score possible on the SNI is 12). Interestingly social integration did not correlate with any demographic variables, including education, income, marital status, age, or gender, nor did it significantly correlate with average 30-day loneliness and social consumption, such that

older individuals reported lower average daily values for each of these variables. There was also a marginally significant correlation between average daily loneliness and average daily solitary consumption, such that greater loneliness was associated with greater average solitary consumption. These correlations, in addition to those for other variables of interest (e.g. gender, age, mean loneliness, etc.) can be found in Table 1. Though the above correlational statistics provide general descriptive information about this sample, bivariate correlations do not account for issues related to missing data or hierarchical data structure. Mean-level associations among variables of interest (e.g. gender, social integration, drinking outcomes, and loneliness), as computed in HLM (which accounts for unbalanced diary data hierarchical data structure) would provide more appropriate and reliable descriptive information for this particular sample. Therefore, I refer the reader to Table 3, wherein I display mean-level associations between study variables of interest, as examined in hypotheses 2a-d.

Following my examination of descriptive and correlational statistics, I explored day of the week and time of day trends for loneliness and alcohol consumption. I examined potential day of the week and time of day effects by regressing daily social consumption, solitary consumption, and loneliness on day of the week and time of day dummy codes; as a reminder, Tuesday was used as a contrast in the day of the week comparisons, as was the evening interview in the time of day comparisons. Results indicated that there were significant positive associations between days of the week and social consumption, specifically for Friday (t(1974) = 4.94, p < .001), Saturday (t(1974) = 4.42, p < .001), and Sunday (t(1974) = 2.95, p = .004). On average, participants

reported greater social consumption on the weekend (e.g. Friday, Saturday, Sunday) compared to other days of the week (i.e. Tuesday). There were also significant negative associations between days of the week and loneliness, specifically for Thursday (t(1999) = -2.34, p=.02), Friday (t(1999) = -2.107, p = .04), and Sunday (t(1999) = -2.42, p = .02). On these days, participants tended to report significantly less loneliness relative to other days of the week. Additionally, time of day comparisons revealed that participants reported greater loneliness during the evening compared to the morning interview (t-ratio= 2.08, p = .04). As previously described, participants reported significantly less social and solitary consumption during the afternoon interview compared to other times of day. Therefore, it was reasonable to eliminate drinking data from this time point, as values of consumption were near zero.

Hypothesis Testing

In this study, I was interested in exploring within-person associations between daily loneliness and subsequent social and solitary alcohol consumption. Further, I examined the extent to which these within-person patterns of behavior varied as a function of social integration and gender. To examine these within-person and between person effects, I used HLM v6.0 statistical software to run a series of multi-level regression equations. Using this method, I modeled Level-1 intercepts and loneliness slopes as random, allowing them to vary within-person; day of the week and time of day dummy codes, as well as age and mean loneliness covariates, were modeled as fixed effects. What follows is a description of results from my hierarchical data analysis, along with an interpretation of the estimated coefficients. Given a Poisson distribution was

used to model the outcome variables, log-estimated coefficients were exponentiated to obtain interpretable results.

In the following models, SolitaryConsumption_{it} and SocialConsumption_{it} represent person i's late night solitary or social consumption on day t; b_{0i} is person i's estimated solitary consumption or social at average levels of loneliness; b_{1i} is the estimated change in solitary or social consumption for a one-unit increase in daily loneliness; Loneliness_{it-1} represents person i's reported loneliness at the previous time point t-1; γ_{00} represents the mean values of social and solitary consumption; and γ_{01} , γ_{02} , γ_{03} , and γ_{04} represent the effects of age, mean 30-day loneliness, social integration, and gender on social and solitary consumption.

Hypothesis 1a and research question #1. First, I examined within-person associations between daily loneliness and subsequent social and solitary alcohol consumption, as modeled in Equations 1 and 2. Separate multi-level regressions were conducted for social and solitary consumption. Table 2 shows the within-person associations between daily loneliness and solitary and social consumption, controlling for age and mean 30-day loneliness.

Hypothesis 1a. Daily solitary consumption was regressed on loneliness, as shown in Equation 1 below. In line with existing motivational models of alcohol consumption and tension reduction (i.e., drinking to cope) hypotheses, I hypothesized that there would be a significant within-person association between loneliness and subsequent alcohol consumption.

$$\begin{aligned} \text{SolitaryConsumption}_{it} &= b_{0i} + b_{1i}(\text{Loneliness}_{it-1}) + b_{2it}(\text{Mon}) + b_{3it}(\text{Wed}) + \\ b_{4it}(\text{Thurs}) + b_{5it}(\text{Fri}) + b_{6it}(\text{Sat}) + b_{7it}(\text{Sun}) + b_{8it}(\text{Time-of-day}) + e_{it} \end{aligned} \tag{1}$$

$$\begin{aligned} b_{0i} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(\text{Age}) + \gamma_{02}(\text{AvgLonely}) + \gamma_{03}(\text{SI}) + \gamma_{04}(\text{Gender}) + u_{0i} \\ b_{1i} &= \gamma_{10} + u_{1i} \end{aligned}$$

As expected, there were significant within-person associations between daily loneliness and subsequent solitary consumption (b=.44, p<.001), such that participants reported greater solitary consumption on days with higher levels of loneliness relative to days when they experienced less loneliness. To facilitate in the interpretation of these results, I exponentiated all of the log-estimated coefficients as obtained through a Poisson distribution (raising *e* to the value of the coefficient). Therefore, it can be said that holding all else constant, a one-unit increase in loneliness was associated with an increase in solitary consumption by 44%, or by 1.55 drinks (e^.44).

Research Question #1. Next, I was interested in exploring within-person associations between loneliness and subsequent social consumption. To examine this association, I regressed social consumption on loneliness, as shown in Equation 2 below.

SocialConsimption_{it} = $b_{0i} + b_{1i}$ (Loneliness_{it-1}) + b_{2it} (Mon) + b_{3it} (Wed) +

$$b_{4it}(Thurs) + b_{5it}(Fri) + b_{6it}(Sat) + b_{7it}(Sun) + b_{8it}(Time-of-day) + e_{it}$$
(2)
$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(Age) + \gamma_{02}(AvgLonely) + \gamma_{03}(SI) + \gamma_{04}(Gender) + u_{0i}$$
$$b_{1i} = \gamma_{10} + u_{1i}$$

Results indicated that there was a significant inverse relationship between daily loneliness and social consumption (b=-.33, p=.002). Specifically, participants reported less social consumption on days with greater loneliness relative to days with less

loneliness. Otherwise stated, holding all else constant, a one unit increase in loneliness was associated with a decrease in social consumption of 33%, or by .72 drinks.

Hypothesis 2a-d. Next, I examined mean level associations of social integration and gender with (**a/c**) social and (**b/d**) solitary alcohol consumption controlling for day of the week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness (Table 3).

Hypothesis 2a-b: Mean levels of social and solitary consumption were regressed on social integration, as demonstrated in Equations 3-4. I predicted that social integration would significantly and negatively predict mean daily solitary consumption, such that those who were higher in social integration would report lower levels of average daily solitary consumption. I also predicted that social integration would significantly and positively predict social consumption, such that those higher in social integration would report greater levels of average daily social consumption compared to those lower in social integration.

SocialConsumption_{it} =
$$b_{0i} + b_{1it}(Mon) + b_{2it}(Wed) + b_{3it}(Thurs) + b_{4it}(Fri) + b_{5it}(Sat) + b_{6it}(Sun) + b_{7it}(Time-of-day) + e_{it}$$
 (3)

 $b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(SI) + \gamma_{02}(Age) + \gamma_{03}(AvgLonely) + u_{0i}$

SolitaryConsumption_{it} = $b_{0i} + b_{1it}(Mon) + b_{2it}(Wed) + b_{3it}(Thurs) + b_{4it}(Fri) + b_{4it}(Fri)$

$$b_{5it}(Sat) + b_{6it}(Sun) + b_{7it}(Time-of-day) + e_{it}$$
(4)

$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(SI) + \gamma_{02}(Age) + \gamma_{03}(AvgLonely) + u_{0i}$$

As predicted, there was a significant inverse relationship between social integration and solitary consumption (b= -.18, p=.006), such that greater social integration was related to less solitary consumption. Unexpectedly, social integration was

also inversely related to social consumption, (b= -.11, p=.024), such that those with greater social integration reported less social consumption.

Hypothesis 2c-d. Mean levels of solitary and social consumption were regressed on gender, as demonstrated in equations 5-6. I hypothesized that males would report higher mean levels of both social and solitary consumption.

 $SocialConsumption_{it} = b_{0i} + b_{0i} + b_{1it}(Mon) + b_{2it}(Wed) + b_{3it}(Thurs) + b_{4it}(Fri) + b_{5it}(Sat) + b_{6it}(Sun) + b_{7it}(Time-of-day) + e_{it}$ (5)

$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(Gender) + \gamma_{02}(Age) + \gamma_{03}(AvgLonely) + u_{0i}$$

 $SolitaryConsumption_{it} = b_{0i} + b_{0i} + b_{1it}(Mon) + b_{2it}(Wed) + b_{3it}(Thurs) + b_{4it}(Fri) + b_$

$$b_{5it}(Sat) + b_{6it}(Sun) + b_{7it}(Time-of-day) + e_{it}$$
(6)

$$b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(Gender) + \gamma_{02}(Age) + \gamma_{03}(AvgLonely) + u_{0i}$$

As predicted, there was a significant association between gender and solitary consumption, such that men reported greater mean solitary consumption (*b*=-1.01, p=.021). Mean associations for social consumption were marginally significant, such that men also reported greater social consumption during the course of the study (*b*=-.45, p=.078).

There was also a significant association between age and social consumption. Specifically, there was a significant inverse association between age and social consumption, such that older participants reported less social consumption (b=-.029, p<.001). Additionally, there was a marginally significant positive association between mean loneliness and solitary consumption, such that participants with greater mean 30-day loneliness tended to drink more over the course of the study (b=.74, p=.05).

Hypothesis 3a-d (cross-level interactions). I then examined the extent to which within-person associations between loneliness, social consumption and solitary consumption differ as a function of social integration and gender. Otherwise stated, I examined the moderating effects of social integration and gender on loneliness-drinking associations. Table 4 displays the log-estimated coefficients of main effects and cross-level interactions, as modeled in Equations 7-10.

Hypothesis 3a-b. To examine the moderating effects of social integration on loneliness-drinking associations, I regressed Level-1 intercepts and slopes on social integration for social and solitary consumption, controlling for day of the week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness. I predicted that social integration would moderate the effects of loneliness on social and solitary consumption. Specifically, I hypothesized that individuals with less social integration would report stronger loneliness-solitary consumption associations, and that those with greater social integration would report stronger loneliness-social consumption associations.

SolitaryConsumption_{it} = $b_{0i} + b_{1i}$ (Loneliness_{it-1}) + b_{2it} (Mon) + b_{3it} (Wed) + b_{4it} (Thurs) + b_{5it} (Fri) + b_{6it} (Sat) + b_{7it} (Sun) + b_{8it} (Time-of-day) + e_{it} (7) $b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}$ (SI) + γ_{02} (Gender) + γ_{03} (Age) + γ_{03} (AvgLonely) + u_{0i} $b_{1i} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11}$ (SI) + u_{1i}

SocialConsumption_{it} =
$$b_{0i} + b_{1i}$$
(Loneliness_{it-1}) + b_{2it} (Mon) + b_{3it} (Wed) +
 b_{4it} (Thurs) + b_{5it} (Fri) + b_{6it} (Sat) + b_{7it} (Sun) + b_{8it} (Time-of-day) + e_{it} (8)
 $b_{0i} = \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}$ (SI) + γ_{02} (Gender) + γ_{03} (Age) + γ_{03} (AvgLonely) + u_{0i}
 $b_{1i} = \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11}$ (SI) + u_{1i}
Given that there were significant main effects of social integration on solitary (b=-.17, p=.006) and social (b=-.19, p=.004) consumption, it was reasonable to proceed in examining a moderation, or the interaction of daily loneliness with social integration. To do this, I included social integration in my Level-2 loneliness slope equations for both drinking outcomes. This allowed me to examine the effect of social integration on the loneliness-solitary consumption and loneliness-social consumption associations. Results indicated a marginally significant moderating effect of social integration on lonelinesssolitary consumption associations (b = .061, p=.095), such that those with greater social integration reported stronger loneliness-solitary consumption associations. Examination of an interaction graph (Figure 1), and tests of simple slopes revealed significant slopes at both high and low levels of social integration (high SI, t(37)=4.76, p<.001; low SI, t(37)=3.66, p=.001), though those reporting more social integration showed stronger loneliness-solitary consumption associations at the highest levels of loneliness than those reporting less social integration. Contrary to expectations, there was no significant moderating effect of social integration on loneliness-social consumption associations.

Hypothesis 3c-d. I then examined the moderating effects of gender on these loneliness-consumption associations by regressing Level-1 intercepts and slopes on gender for social and solitary consumption, controlling for day of the week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness. I predicted that gender would moderate the effects of loneliness on social and solitary consumption, such that men would report stronger loneliness-drinking associations for both social and solitary consumption.

 $\begin{aligned} \text{SolitaryConsumption}_{it} &= b_{0i} + b_{1i}(\text{Loneliness}_{it-1}) + b_{2it}(\text{Mon}) + b_{3it}(\text{Wed}) + \\ b_{4it}(\text{Thurs}) + b_{5it}(\text{Fri}) + b_{6it}(\text{Sat}) + b_{7it}(\text{Sun}) + b_{8it}(\text{Time-of-day}) + e_{it} \end{aligned} \tag{9} \\ b_{0i} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(\text{SI}) + \gamma_{02}(\text{Gender}) + \gamma_{03}(\text{Age}) + \gamma_{03}(\text{AvgLonely}) + u_{0i} \\ b_{1i} &= \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11}(\text{Gender}) + u_{1i} \end{aligned}$ $\begin{aligned} \text{SocialConsumption}_{it} &= b_{0i} + b_{1i}(\text{Loneliness}_{it-1}) + b_{2it}(\text{Mon}) + b_{3it}(\text{Wed}) + \\ b_{4it}(\text{Thurs}) + b_{5it}(\text{Fri}) + b_{6it}(\text{Sat}) + b_{7it}(\text{Sun}) + b_{8it}(\text{Time-of-day}) + e_{it} \end{aligned} \tag{10} \\ b_{0i} &= \gamma_{00} + \gamma_{01}(\text{SI}) + \gamma_{02}(\text{Gender}) + \gamma_{03}(\text{Age}) + \gamma_{03}(\text{AvgLonely}) + u_{0i} \\ b_{1i} &= \gamma_{10} + \gamma_{11}(\text{Gender}) + u_{1i} \end{aligned}$

Significant and marginally significant main effects of gender on solitary (b= -1.07, p=.014), and social (b=-.43, p=.079) consumption validated the examination of gender as a moderator in loneliness-drinking outcome associations. To test for moderation, I included gender in the Level-2 loneliness slope equations for both drinking outcomes. This allowed me to examine the effects of gender on the lonelinessconsumption associations. Results indicated significant moderating effects of gender on loneliness-solitary consumption associations (b=.44, p=.004; Figure 2). Simple slopes analyses revealed that females exhibited stronger loneliness-solitary consumption associations (t(37)=4.65, p < .001) relative to males (t(37)=4.48, p < .001), at the highest level of loneliness. Though both men and women reported increases in solitary consumption following times of greater loneliness, women reported stronger lonelinesssolitary consumption associations than men

There were also marginally significant moderating effects of gender on loneliness-social consumption associations (b=.33, p=.079; Figure 3). Tests of simple

slopes revealed significant slopes for men only (t(37)=3.71, p=.0007), while slopes for women were not significant (t(37)=-1.15, p=.258). Otherwise stated, men reported significant decreases in social consumption following times with greater loneliness, while women did not.

Discussion

The purpose of this study was to examine within-person patterns of drinking behavior in response to daily experiences of loneliness, and to explore the moderating effects of social integration and gender on these associations. Previous researchers have provided ample evidence in support of social relationships as strong predictors of health and health behavior (e.g. Berkman & Syme, 1979; Durkheim, 1951). Specifically, research has shown that being more integrated in a diverse network of social ties is related to greater mortality, healthier lifestyle (e.g. exercise), and reduced risk behavior (e.g. alcohol consumption; Berkman & Breslow, 1983; Cohem & Lemay, 2007), and that the availability of social resources is known to influence coping strategies and reactivity to daily stress (Cobb, 1976; Cutrona, 1987). Conversely, loneliness, or perceived social isolation, has been associated with low immune system functioning, cardiovascular disease, and increased risk behaviors, such as alcohol consumption and substance use (Caccioppo et al., 2002; Hawkley et al., 2003; Hawkley et al., 2006).

Though various researchers have examined health behavioral correlates of loneliness, the majority of research to date utilizes cross-sectional assessments and retrospective reports of health behaviors, therefore failing to capture more fluctuating experiences and responses to loneliness which may be indicative of maladaptive patterns of coping behavior. Such within-person, daily mood-behavior associations are best captured using daily process methodology, which requires multiple assessments per day per participants (Bolger et al., 2003; Cooper et al., 1995). Because data is collected in real time, such methodology cuts back on retrospective bias, thus allowing a more

accurate examination of fluctuating mood experiences and subsequent behavioral outcomes. Through a secondary analysis of data collected via daily process methodology, this thesis provides a very unique understanding of specific processes by which social relationships, or the perceived lack thereof, influence health and more specifically, mood-related health behavior.

In the following sections I will discuss my findings in light of existing literature and theory of social relationships and health, loneliness, and motivational models of alcohol consumption. Specifically, I will discuss within-person associations between loneliness and drinking outcomes; mean-level associations between social integration, gender, social and solitary alcohol consumption; and the moderating effects of social integration and gender on loneliness-drinking associations. I will then provide an overview of potential limitations to this study, followed by a discussion of the implications, contributions, and future directions of this research.

Loneliness-Drinking Associations

Loneliness and solitary consumption. In this thesis, I examined within-person associations between daytime loneliness and subsequent evening solitary consumption (Hypothesis 1a). Based on Cooper and colleagues' (1995) motivational models of alcohol consumption and drinking-to-cope hypotheses, I expected that participants would report greater solitary consumption on days with greater loneliness relative to days with less loneliness. As expected, results indicated that daytime loneliness significantly and positively predicted solitary consumption. These findings are in accordance with existing motivational models of alcohol consumption, which suggest that the regulation of

negative affect is a primary motive for alcohol consumption (e.g. drinking to cope, tension reduction; Conger, 1956; Cooper et al., 1995). In this sample, increases in solitary consumption following time periods with more loneliness may be indicative of drinking to cope and tension reduction type behavior. Previous research has also provided evidence that such drinking-to-cope behavior, and more specifically negativemood related consumption, tends to occur in solitary contexts (Cooper et al., 1994; Mohr et al., 2001a/2005). The findings of this thesis support this research, as results demonstrated increases in solitary consumption following experiences of loneliness.

The positive associations between loneliness and solitary consumption also speak to known responses to loneliness. Specifically, Rubenstein and Shaver (1982) described sad passivity responses to loneliness, which are characterized by solitary behaviors such as crying, sleeping, overeating, alcohol consumption, and substance use. Perlman and Peplau (1979/1981) identified the engagement in behaviors designed to alleviate the negative impact of loneliness, such as alcohol consumption or drug use, as a common response to loneliness. And similarly, Rokach and Brock (1980) described the need to reduce feelings of loneliness through behaviors such as sexual intercourse and substance use. Sad passivity behaviors are thought of as maladaptive coping responses as such behaviors do not actively address the source of loneliness. In light of this research, it is possible that the positive associations between daytime loneliness and evening solitary consumption, as found in this thesis, reflect sad passivity loneliness response categories.

It is also possible that increases in solitary consumption relate to another category of responses to loneliness, active solitude, in which individuals spend time reflecting on

their loneliness through solitary activity (Perlman & Peplau 1979/1981; Rubenstein & Shaver, 1982). A key component of this active response to loneliness is the idea that solitude can be healthy and productive, in that it is related to self-reflection, contemplation, creativity, and spirituality (Long & Averill, 2003). Further, though negative mood-related solitary consumption has been associated with the development of alcohol abuse and dependence, recent research suggests that such drinking-to-cope behaviors may be an effective means of reducing negative affect, particularly for those with alternative coping resources (Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr, Brannan, Wendt, Jacobs, & Wright, 2010). Therefore, though loneliness-related solitary consumption may be indicative of sad passivity responses to loneliness, it is also likely that individuals are engaging in active solitude, taking time to reflect on and understand their experience of loneliness. In light of this interpretation, however, it is important to note current research examining alcohol myopia, or the restricting effects of alcohol consumption on cognitive functioning (e.g. Steele and Joseph, 1988). Such research has demonstrated that alcohol impairs the ability to attend to environmental cues, information, and stimuli, and thus limits attention to more salient aspects of the environment. Research examining these effects has found that stress-related social consumption results in the greatest stressdampening effects, as individuals are distracted from thoughts of the days' stressful/negative events. Conversely, solitary consumption has been shown to actually exacerbate the effect of stress on mood, as individuals are more prone to focusing in on a particular stressor or daily event, thus increasing stress and negative mood (Armeli et al., 2003). According to this research, loneliness-related solitary consumption may be

counterproductive and result in greater loneliness, to the extent that the individual is not engaging in other behaviors (i.e. using the internet, watching TV, listening to music) which may distract from his/loneliness. It would be useful for future research to examine loneliness-relate daily consumption in the context of alcohol myopia, and explore the extent to which consumption in different contexts increases or decreases later experiences of loneliness.

Given that solitary consumption has been described as both an adaptive and maladaptive coping response to loneliness (sad passivity vs. active solitude), it is important to consider what differentiates individuals for whom this behavior is high risk versus effective (as a coping strategy). As mentioned above, recent research has suggested that drinking to cope can be an effective coping strategy, for those with alternative coping resources. For those individuals with alternative support systems in place, perhaps solitary consumption is a form of active solitude. Conversely, solitary consumption may be less adaptive for those who are truly socially isolated, and therefore lacking in supportive ties to turn to in times of need. Therefore, it is possible that perceived control of solitude plays an important role in differentiating the adaptiveness of solitary responses to loneliness. Specifically, it would be important to consider whether individuals are choosing to drink alone (active solitude), versus having no other option.

Loneliness and social consumption. In addition to sad passivity and active solitude responses, researchers have identified a variety of social behaviors which individuals use to cope with feelings of loneliness. In particular, Rubenstein and Shaver (1982) describe seeking social contact as a more active response to loneliness. Such

behavior includes calling or vising a friend, engaging in social activities, or putting forth an increased effort to build social ties. Further, recent research has shown that social and solitary alcohol consumption represent two very different drinking behaviors associated with different motivations for consumption (e.g. Cooper, 1994). Given that responses to loneliness occur in both social and solitary contexts, and that social consumption represents a distinct drinking behavior, it was important to assess loneliness-related social consumption, as this may be reflective of more active responses to loneliness as described above.

In this thesis, I explored the within-person associations between loneliness and subsequent social consumption (Research Question #1). In contrast to the results for solitary consumption, there was a significant inverse relationship between loneliness and social participations such that participants reported less evening social consumption following times of greater loneliness. These findings are important, as they demonstrate how social and solitary contexts lend to very different mood-related behaviors (Mohr et al., 2001a). Further, they are in line with literature which suggests that loneliness is strongly related to fear of rejection and social withdrawal type behavior (Cacioppo, Hawkley, et al., 2006; Jones, Rose, & Russell, 1990). More specifically, though loneliness serves as a reminder of the need to belong, it is often associated with an increased sensitivity to social threats. Therefore, though seeking social contact may help to alleviate feelings of loneliness, individuals are often likely to withdraw from social behavior out of fear for potential rejection.

However, decreases in social consumption are not necessarily indicative of withdrawal from social behavior. It is important to consider that individual may be engaging in other kinds of social activities in non-drinking contexts (e.g. going on a walk or out to coffee with a friend or family member). Additionally, there are a variety of solitary behaviors which are still innately social, such as talking on the phone, emailing, or using social network sites and internet chat rooms. Therefore, it is impossible to conclude that decreases in social consumption are indicative of decreases in social behavior. Future research should examine associations between daily loneliness and other types of social behaviors, including those that may be in a solitary context (e.g. chat rooms, etc.).

Individual Differences in Alcohol Consumption and Loneliness

Previous research within the health behavior and addictions literature has revealed a variety of individual difference variables which influence levels of alcohol consumption (i.e. gender, age, drinking motives, etc.). In this thesis, I explored the influence of gender and age on mean levels of social and solitary consumption (Hypothesis 2a-d). Results indicated that men reported greater average social and solitary consumption. Additionally, older participants reported less average solitary consumption. Previous research has shown that men typically report greater frequency and quantity of alcohol consumption (e.g. Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al., 2001a). Further, existing epidemiological data demonstrates that alcohol consumption declines with age (Filmore, Hartka, Johnstone, Leino, Motoyoshi, & Temple, 1991; Midanik, 1992). The alignment of my findings with previous literature speaks to the generalizability of this sample, in

terms of normative gender and age-related drinking behaviors. These findings also demonstrate the importance of differentiating between distinct drinking contexts. While there was a significant association between age and social consumption, age did not predict solitary consumption. Therefore, assessing social and solitary consumption separately gives a very unique perspective of drinking behavior, which may have been lost if drinking context were not assessed separately.

Research and theory within the realm of social relationships and health has described how individual differences in social integration influence health and health behavior. Specifically, theories of symbolic interactionism and social control posit that social relationships and more specifically, social integration (i.e. having a diversity of social ties), influence engagement in health behaviors through behavioral norms and expectations which social roles and identities provide (e.g. Thoits, 1983; Lewis & Rook, 1999). Similarly, theories of social support and social networks posit that having a diverse network of social ties influences health behaviors through increased access to health-promoting information, and through social ties which may sanction risky health behavior and provide alternative coping resources in times of need. Drawing from these theories, various researchers have shown that low social integration, or social isolation, is associated with greater alcohol and cigarette use; low physical exercise; low use of medical resources; and poor diet (Berkman et al., 2000; Cohen, 1988; Cohen & Lemay, 2007; House, Landis, & Umberson, 1988; Kuntsche, Knibbe, Gmel, 2009; Pressman, Cohen, Miller, & Rabin, 2005; Reynolds & Kaplan, 1990). Conversely, high social integration has been shown to relate to healthier lifestyle (e.g. greater exercise, healthy

diet), as well as increased use of approach-oriented coping behavior (i.e. drawing on social support resources) and decreased use of avoidance coping behaviors through substance use (e.g. Moos, Brennan, Fondacaro, & Moos, 1990).

Given the well-known influence of social integration on health behavior and coping strategies, it was important to consider this variable in the context of daily loneliness. The strong associations between social network diversity/structure and health behavior may not only influence the nature of responses to loneliness, but also the context of these responses (i.e. social versus solitary alcohol consumption). In this thesis, I predicted that greater social integration would be related to less solitary and greater social consumption, with the assumption that those reporting greater social integration would have more opportunity to drink with others. Indeed, past research has shown that high social integration is related to a greater number of daily interaction partners (e.g. Cohen & Lemay, 2007). However, findings indicated that greater social integration was related to less alcohol consumption in both social and solitary contexts. These findings are actually more consistent with the broader social relationships and health literature by showing that greater social integration is related to less health risk behavior. Further, no study prior to this thesis had explored the association between social integration and drinking behavior in different contexts. Therefore, these particular findings make a unique contribution to the existing body of social relationships, social integration, and health research. Future research should continue to explore associations between social integration and health behaviors (e.g. exercise, eating behaviors, etc.) differentiating between social and solitary contexts.

Previous research has also explored cross-sectional associations between chronic loneliness, alcohol consumption, and alcohol abuse, demonstrating that loneliness, as assessed by the UCLA Loneliness Scale (Russell, Peplau, & Cutrona, 1980), typically relates to greater alcohol consumption and risk behavior (Cornwell & Waite, 2009). In this thesis, mean 30-day loneliness was significantly predictive of average daily solitary consumption, such that participants with greater mean-levels of loneliness reported greater solitary consumption. It is interesting to note that not only did individuals drink more in solitary contexts at times with greater loneliness, but individuals who were lonelier tended to exhibit greater solitary consumption in general. Such findings are in line with previous research relating loneliness with withdrawal type behavior and fear of rejection (e.g. Cacioppo, Hawkley, et al., 2006; Jones, Rose, & Russell, 1990). Further, though a more comprehensive measure of loneliness, (e.g. UCLA Loneliness Scale; Russell, Peplau, & Cutrona, 1980) was not included in this study, the mean-level measure of daily loneliness yielded results in the expected direction of existing cross-sectional research examining loneliness and alcohol consumption. This thesis, then, provides a unique understanding of how greater average daily loneliness and associated patterns of consumption relate to more cross-sectional assessments loneliness, and may be reflective of more enduring experiences of chronic loneliness.

Loneliness-Related Consumption as a Function of Social Integration and Gender

Previous researchers and theorists have conceptualized stress-vulnerability models of consumption, proposing that certain individuals are particularly vulnerable to adopting patterns of negative mood-related alcohol consumption (Armeli et al., 2000).

Within this framework, researchers have examined the moderating influence of such variables as perceived social support on mood-drinking associations (e.g. Hussong et al., 2001; Mohr et al., 2001a; Mohr et al., 2005; Steptoe et al., 1995), providing evidence that those with low perceived support exhibit stronger negative mood-drinking associations. Though recent researchers have explored the moderating effect of social integration on associations between social interactions and health behaviors (i.e. Cohen & Lemay, 2007), no research prior to this thesis had examined the influence of social integration on negative mood-drinking associations.

Moderating effect of social integration on loneliness-solitary consumption associations. In this study, I examined the moderating influence of social integration on within-person associations between loneliness and drinking outcomes (e.g. social and solitary consumption; Hypothesis 3a-b). In accordance with my hypotheses, results indicated marginally significant moderating effects of social integration on lonelinesssolitary consumption associations. Though I had predicted that participants who reported less social integration would report stronger loneliness-solitary consumption associations, examination of simple slopes revealed that it was those with greater social integration who exhibited somewhat stronger loneliness-solitary consumption relationships. These results appear to contradict existing stress-buffering models of social support, which assert that the social supports provided by interpersonal ties attenuate the negative effects of stress and negative mood (Cassel, 1976; Cobb, 1976; Cohen & Wills, 1985). However, such stress-buffering effects are generally found for perceptions of support availability, and less frequently for structural measures of social support, such as social integration.

Therefore, it is possible that perceptions of support availability, rather than social integration, would have had more of an attenuating effect on loneliness-drinking associations.

Interestingly, there were no significant moderating effects of social integration on loneliness-social consumption associations, despite highly significant variation in loneliness-social consumption slopes (p=.002). Such findings suggest that alternative individual difference variables may be influencing these associations, such as perceptions of support, perceived control, or drinking motives (e.g. coping motives, social motives, enhancement motives, etc.). More importantly, significant variation in lonelinessdrinking slopes reveals that though on average participants changed their behavior in response to loneliness by decreasing social consumption, some individuals within this sample did not. It is possible that those reporting decreases in social consumption were engaging in non-drinking behaviors (social or solitary) instead, such as going on a walk, talking on the phone with friends/family, reading a book, journaling, etc. Conversely, for those who did not report decreases in social consumption, it is likely that social consumption was less related to the experience of loneliness. In light of this, it is important to note that the most frequently reported social integration score in this sample was 7 (out of a 12-point scale), which is indicative of a fairly healthy social network (Berkman & Syme, 1979). Previous literature has described social integration as predictive of "self-worth, predictability, stability, and control" (Rodriguez & Cohen, 1998, p. 539), as well as self-esteem and a sense of mastery (Brissette, Cohen, & Seeman, 2000; Cohen, 1988; Cohen & Lemay, 2007). Further, social integration has been linked

to a greater diversity of coping resources and coping strategies. Therefore, it is possible that many of the participants in this sample were finding alternative ways to utilize their support networks following times with more loneliness as opposed to going out and drinking with others.

It is also possible that there was simply not enough power to detect a cross-level interaction of social integration and daily loneliness, given the high power requirements for detecting moderation in hierarchical data analysis. Hox (2010) argues that having 100 to 200 groups with approximately 10 cases per group is necessary to have sufficient power for testing cross-level interactions. In line with this, Scherbaum and Ferreter (2009) suggest that increasing the number of observations at the highest level of analysis (i.e. number of groups) is a good strategy for obtaining enough power to detect cross-level interactions. Though I included 3,329 person-day observations (Level-1) in my analyses, research has shown that, for multi-level models, power and accuracy depend more so on the number of groups (Level-2) than on the number of individuals per group (Hox, 1998). Therefore, it is likely that increasing the number of participants in this study would provide the statistical power needed to detect this cross-level interaction.

Moderating effect of gender on loneliness-solitary consumption associations. Previous research has shown that men and women tend to differ in the strategies they describe as useful for coping with loneliness. In particular, work by Rokach and Brock (1998) demonstrated that women were more likely endorse the use of coping strategies such as acceptance and self-reflection, while men were more likely to describe increasing their social activity. The stress and coping literature also identifies gender differences in

the regulation of daily mood, stress, and social interactions. Specifically, men have been shown to be more likely to externalize stress through drinking (e.g. Hussong et al., 2001), and women are more likely to actively cope by seeking social ties for emotional support, also known as "tending and befriending" (Taylor et al., 2000). In light of this research, and the relative dearth of research examining gender differences in daily responses to loneliness, it was important to consider the role of gender in daily responses to loneliness.

In this thesis, I examined the moderating influence of gender in lonelinessdrinking associations (Hypothesis 3c-d). Results indicated that gender significantly moderated the positive association between daytime loneliness and subsequent solitary consumption, such that women exhibited stronger increases in solitary consumption than men on days with greater loneliness. Though such findings do contradict research describing men as more likely to report drinking to cope with negative emotions (Cooper, Russell, Skinner, Frone, & Mudar, 1992), they are very much in line with recent findings in the self-medication and daily process literature. For example, in a cross-sectional study of problem drinking, gender, coping, and loneliness, Bonin, McCreary, and Sadava (2000) found that when loneliness was high, women were more likely to report greater frequency of intoxication than men. Similarly, Griffin, Mirin, and Weiss (1992) found that women were more likely to use drugs in self-medicating depression than men. Therefore, while research has traditionally shown that men are more likely to report drinking to cope behavior, recent evidence suggests that women are just as likely, and in some circumstances more likely, to actually exhibit this behavior.

These findings are also in accordance with previous research describing gender differences in reactions to daily interpersonal conflict. Such research has shown that women tend to experience greater negative affect following interpersonal conflict (Bolger et al., 1989). Further, Mohr and colleagues (2003) argue that women may be more vulnerable to experiencing the negative effects of daily experiences and distress and are also more likely to continue experiencing negative mood from one time point to the next (e.g. rumination). Given that loneliness can be considered a form of interpersonal stress, the findings of this thesis strongly support the previous literature as described above. Specifically, women in this sample reported greater increases in loneliness-related solitary consumption than men; such findings reflect the gender differences in reactivity to daily experiences of loneliness. Additionally, research exploring gender differences in responses to loneliness describes women as more likely to endorse the use of acceptance and self-reflection, and while men as more likely to increase social activity (Rokach & Rock, 1998). Though both men and women increased solitary consumption, women reported greater solitary consumption following times of greater loneliness. To the extent that solitary consumption is a venue for self-reflection and acceptance of loneliness (i.e. active solitude), this finding is in line with previous research.

Lastly, it is important to note that while women showed stronger lonelinessdrinking associations for solitary consumption, men also reported significant increases in solitary consumption on days with greater loneliness. These effects are in line with existing motivational models of alcohol consumption (i.e. regulation of negative mood as a primary motive for alcohol consumption), and more specifically the work of Cooper

(1994) and Mohr (2001a/2005) which shows that negative mood-related consumption tends to occur in solitary contexts.

Moderating effects of gender on loneliness-social consumption associations. In addition to solitary consumption, I examined the influence of gender on lonelinesssocial consumption associations. Results indicated that there was a marginally significant moderation of gender on the negative loneliness-social consumption associations, such that men showed decreases in social consumption on days with greater loneliness, while women did not show significant decreasing slopes. These findings seem to contradict known gender differences within the stress and coping literature, and more specifically, Taylor et al.'s (2000) "tend-and-befriend" hypothesis. According to this hypothesis, women typically respond to stress through the creation and maintenance of social ties (i.e. "tend-and-befriend"), whereas men are likely to respond through withdrawal, aggression, or hostility (i.e. "fight-or-flight"). It is possible, however, that women are engaging in more active types of responses to loneliness in non-drinking contexts. As noted earlier in this discussion, social consumption is not the only possible socialoriented response to loneliness. Though the women in this sample did not explicitly increase their levels of social consumption in response to loneliness, perhaps they did increase participation in other social activities, such as calling a friend, spending time with friends and family, etc.

Lastly, given the lack of decline in social consumption for women, it is also possible that the nature of drinking behavior differs for men and women. For example, drinking for men may be more socially-oriented behavior for men versus women.

Indeed, research has shown that males are more likely to endorse social motives for consumption than women (Cooper, et al., 1992; Kuntsche, Knibbe, Gmel, & Engels, 2006). Additionally, women, particularly young women, frequently endorse coping motives (Cooper, 1994). Therefore, the lack of loneliness-social consumption association for women could be an artifact of gender differences in drinking motives, such that consumption for men tends to be more socially motivated. Further, given research which suggests that loneliness is strongly related to fear of rejection and social withdrawal type behavior, as described above (e.g. Cacioppo, Hawkley, et al., 2006; Jones, Rose, & Russell, 1990), it is possible that for men and women, social consumption is not a useful medium for dealing with transient experiences of loneliness. Indeed, loneliness has been related to emotions such as boredom, sadness, negativity, and anxiety, emotions which are not conducive to active participation in a social setting.

Limitations

There are several methodological limitations in this study which may limit the strength and generalizability of my findings. First, single item measurements of loneliness were employed in the current study, though multiple items are typically preferred when assessing moods and related constructs. However, a number of studies have shown that constructs are reliably measured with single items (e.g. Burisch, 1984; Mohr et al., 2003; Myers & Diener, 1995), which have the advantage of brevity, therefore curbing participant response fatigue (Larsen & Fredrickson, 1999). Furthermore, studies have validated the use of single item measures of loneliness against the traditional well-validated UCLA Loneliness Scale (e.g. Doane & Adam, 2010; Hawkley et al., 2010;

Pressman et al., 2007). Typically, within-person correlations between these single-item and cross-sectional measures consistently reveal positive and significant associations, suggesting that levels of daily loneliness (negative mood) are related to more global feelings of isolation (r=.49; Pressman et al., 2007).

Another limitation is the concurrent assessment of previous evening consumption with morning mood assessments. Specifically, participations reported the amount of alcohol consumed in the previous evening and drinking context for the previous evening during the morning daily diary, within which current moods were also assessed. In light of this design, it is important to consider how current moods may have influenced retrospective reports of previous drinking behavior, and that remembering the previous evening's events may have influenced current mood (e.g. shared method bias; Ghiselli, Campbell, & Zedeck, 1981). I addressed these potential issues in my analyses by lagging the daily loneliness variable, enabling me to predict evening social and solitary consumption from daily loneliness. Further, though one of the benefits of daily process methodology is reduction in retrospective bias, all of the survey data is still self-report. However, Perrine and colleagues (1995) show that self-reports of alcohol use, within 24hours of consumption, are highly correlated with objective measures of use. Therefore, daily consumption, as captured in this study, can be assumed to be a reliable assessment of drinking behavior.

Of some concern is also the evaluation of drinking context. Though there was a measure of solitary and social consumption, a measure of normative drinking context was not included in this study. That is, there is no distinct indicator of whether an individual

predominantly drinks with others or alone. Research and theory suggest that social integration is health promoting to the extent that the majority of group norms within a specific network encourage health-promoting behavior (Berkman et al., 2000; Cohen et al., 2000b). Therefore, drinking norms within an individual's social network, which were not measured, may also be at play, given the scenario that a particular individual is embedded in a social network wherein drinking is a normative behavior. In such a scenario, he/she is not lonely, but may be consuming more alcohol than another individual who has no friend group with which to participate in this behavior.

It is also important to consider the question of directionality for loneliness and drinking associations. Specifically, does loneliness predict solitary consumption, or does solitary consumption predict subsequent loneliness? I addressed this issue of directionality through the use of time contingent, daily process data and subsequent data analytic procedures (i.e. multi-level modeling). Further, because I controlled for average levels of loneliness, I was able to specify that these lagged loneliness-drinking associations represented the effect of changes in daily loneliness on consumption, controlling for average levels of loneliness.

Contributions and Future Directions

Findings from this study make numerous contributions to the social relationships, loneliness, and health literature. Though previous researchers have explored health behavioral correlates of loneliness and social integration, the majority of existing research employs cross-sectional measures of loneliness and retrospective reports of health behavior. Such research reveals very little about fluctuating experiences and responses to

loneliness which may differ as a function of individual difference variables, such as gender. Further, no previous research examining loneliness-related alcohol consumption has examined drinking context (e.g. social versus solitary consumption). In this research project, I specifically examined within-person associations between daily loneliness and subsequent alcohol consumption in both social and solitary contexts, documenting different patterns of drinking behavior in each.

More specific contributions of this study relate to the significant findings for the hypothesized within-person associations and cross-level interactions. The within-person associations between loneliness and solitary consumption demonstrate that patterns of negative-mood-related solitary consumption (e.g. drinking to cope), which have been previously associated with the development of abuse and dependence, are exhibited in responses to loneliness. Findings relating to the negative within-person associations between loneliness and social consumption also contribute to the current loneliness literature, which posits that loneliness is broadly related to subsequent fear of rejection, social withdrawal type behaviors, and social anxiety (e.g. Cacioppo, Hawkley, et al., 2006; Jones, Rose, & Russell, 1990). Though it is possible that participants in this study were doing other social activities in a non-drinking context, these findings show that the majority individuals reacted to loneliness through solitary behavior.

The moderating effects of gender and social integration, as examined in this study, provide a unique picture of specific individual difference variables which play a role in determining responses to daily loneliness. In particular, gender differences in loneliness-drinking associations contribute to existing stress-vulnerability models of

consumption, in showing that women exhibit stronger drinking-to-cope type behavior than men in relation to daily loneliness. These findings also provide strong support for the stress and coping literature, which shows that women are more reactive to and negatively influenced by interpersonal distress (e.g. Bolger et al., 1989). Further, no study to date has examined gender differences in responses to loneliness at this level of analysis.

The lack of significant moderating effects for social integration suggests that more structural aspects of social support, such as social integration, do not have as strong of an influence in attenuating the negative effects of stress and negative mood (i.e. stressbuffering effects of social support). Rather, it is likely that social integration is playing an alternative role by more directly influencing engagement in non-drinking coping responses to loneliness (e.g. going out and spending quality time with friends and family, exercise, etc.) given that this variable is generally related to healthier lifestyle and more adaptive coping strategies. Also, within this sample, individuals high in social integration reported significantly less alcohol consumption and somewhat lower rates of loneliness than their less socially integrated counterparts. As a result, these individuals had less loneliness to manage and to which others may have been responding through alcohol consumption. Future research should continue to explore the influence of social integration on loneliness-related health behaviors, including those not related to alcohol consumption (e.g. exercise, sleep, hours of internet/TV use, etc.)

Lastly, in discussing the implications and contributions of this research project, it is important to consider the cultural values and societal norms surrounding alcohol use.

Though alcohol use is termed a "risk behavior" within the addictions and health literature, alcohol consumption is actually a very normative behavior which, when consumed safely and in moderation, can be a potentially psychologically healthy behavior (e.g. Peele & Brodsky, 2000). In fact, the culture which surrounds healthy alcohol consumption is one that facilitates social interaction, a useful antidote to the experience of loneliness. Further, recent research has suggested that negative moodrelated consumption (i.e. drinking to cope) may actually be an effective coping strategy for those with alternative supports systems in place (e.g. Hussong et al., 2001). It is important to keep such research in mind when interpreting the strong within-in person associations between loneliness and solitary consumption, as demonstrated in this thesis. That is, for those with supportive social resources in place and/or high perceptions of control over the experience of aloneness, solitary consumption may be a useful strategy for coping with loneliness, such that it provides a sense of solitude and opportunity for self-reflection. Future research, then, should also explore the benefits of solitude in response to daily loneliness, and how perceptions of control over being alone contribute to the adaptiveness of this coping response.

Conclusion

Social relationships have long been thought of as vital to well-being and human flourishing, the deficit of which can have severe consequences including depression, suicide, and substance use (Berkman & Breslow, 1984). The negative affective experience of loneliness is a common indicator of relationship deficits, and has been linked to outcomes including alcohol consumption and substance use (Cacioppo et al., 2002). Though ample research has explored health and behavioral correlates of loneliness, the majority of research has employed cross-sectional measures of chronic loneliness therefore revealing little about fluctuating experiences of daily loneliness and subsequent behavioral responses (e.g. alcohol consumption). Further, prior to this study, no research had examined daily responses to loneliness in different behavioral contexts (i.e. social versus solitary). In this thesis, I examined within-person associations between daytime loneliness and evening alcohol consumption in social and solitary drinking contexts, through the use of daily process methodology. Lastly, I explored how these within-day relationships varied as a function of social integration and gender. Given the within-person level of analysis and the differentiation of drinking context, the findings of this study make a substantive contribution to existing bodies of research relating to social relationships and health, stress and coping, and loneliness. Most importantly, this thesis provides a unique picture of specific pathways by which social relationships, and the perceived lack thereof, may come to influence daily health and health behavior.

| Correlations 1 | Among 1 | Aggregat | e Study Va | riables | | | | | |
|--|---------|----------|------------|---------|-----|-----|----|----|---|
| Variable | Z | Μ | SD | | 7 | б | 4 | S | 9 |
| 1. Daily Solitary Consumption | 47 | .30 | .30 | - | | | | | |
| 2. Daily Social Consumption | 47 | .16 | .35 | 01 | 1 | | | | |
| 3. Daily Loneliness | 47 | 1.43 | .48 | .22 | .17 | 1 | | | |
| 4. Social Integration | 44 | 5.95 | 1.89 | 11 | 15 | 18 | Ц | | |
| 5. Gender | 44 | .50 | .51 | 21 | 18 | 01 | 12 | - | |
| 6. Age | 44 | 36.82 | 16.20 | 08 | 32* | 32* | 02 | 14 | 1 |
| $\div p < .10, \ast p < .05, \ast \ast p < .01, \ast \ast$ | p < .00 | 1. | | | | | | | |

Hypothesis 1a and research question #1 (within-person associations between loneliness and subsequent alcohol consumption)

| Predictors | Evening Solitary Consumption | Evening Social Consumption |
|---------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| | В | В |
| Intercept Model | | |
| Social Integration | 17** | 11* |
| Age | 00 | 03*** |
| Gender | -1.05* | 41^{\dagger} |
| Mean Loneliness | .82* | .08 |
| Slopes Model | | |
| Daytime Loneliness | .44*** | 34** |
| Variance of Slopes ¹ | $.15^{\dagger}$ | .34** |

Note: Analyses controlled for day of week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness; gender was coded as men=0, female=1

 $\ddot{\dagger} p < .10, * p < .05, ** p < .01, *** p < .001.$

¹ Variance components were estimated by HLM software through a χ^2 test of significance.

Hypothesis 2a-d (mean-level associations of gender and social integration with drinking outcomes)

| Predictors | Evening Solitary Consumption B | Evening Social Consumption B |
|--------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------------------|
| Intercept Model | | |
| Social Integration | 18** | 11* |
| Age | 00 | 03*** |
| Gender | -1.01* | 47^{\dagger} |
| Mean Loneliness | $.74^{\dagger}$ | .05 |

Note: Analyses controlled for day of week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness; gender was coded as men=0, female=1

p < .10, p < .05, p < .01, p < .001.

Hypothesis 3a-d (cross-level interactions of social integration and gender on loneliness-drinking associations)

| Predictors | Evening Solitary Consumption | Evening Social Consumption |
|------------------------------------|---------------------------------|-------------------------------|
| | В | В |
| Step One | | |
| Intercept Model | | |
| Social Integration | 19** | 11* |
| Gender | -1.07* | 43 [†] |
| Slopes Model | | |
| Daytime Loneliness | .42*** | 32** |
| Variance of Slopes | $.15^{\dagger}$ | .37** |
| Step Two: | | |
| Intercept Model | | |
| Social Integration | 19** | 11* |
| Gender | -1.07 | 43 [†] |
| Slopes Model | | |
| Daytime Loneliness | .42*** | 32** |
| Social Integration X Loneliness | $.06^{\dagger}$ | 00 |
| Gender X Loneliness | .44** | $.33^{\dagger}$ |

Note: Analyses controlled for day of week, time of day, age, and mean 30-day loneliness; gender was coded as men=0, female=1

p < .10, p < .05, p < .01, p < .001

Fig. 1: Cross-level interaction of social integration on loneliness-solitary consumption association.



Fig. 2: Cross-level interaction of gender and loneliness on solitary consumption.



Fig 3: Cross-level interaction of gender on loneliness-social consumption association.



References

- Affleck, G., Tennen, H., Urrows, S., & Higgins, P. (1994). Person and contextual features of stress reactivity: Individual differences in relations of undesirable daily events with mood disturbance and chronic pain intensity. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 66, 329-340.
- Akerlind, I., & Hornquistm J. O. (1992). Stability and change in feelings of loneliness: A two-year prospective longitudinal study of advanced alcohol abusers.
 Scandinavian Journal of Psychology, 30(102-112).
- Armeli, S., Carney, M. A., Tennen, H., Affleck, G., & O'Neil, T. P. (2000). Stress and alcohol use: A daily process examination of the stressor-vulnerability model. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 78, 979-994.
- Armeli, S., Mohr, C., Tennen, H., Todd, M., Carney, M. A., Affleck, G., & Hromi, A. (2003). A daily process examination of the stress-response dampening effects of alcohol consumption. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 17(4), 266-276.
- Babam, A., & Craciun, C. (2007). Changing health-risk behaviors: A review of theory and evidence-based interventions in health psychology. *Journal of Cognitive and Behavioral Therapies*, 7(1), 45-67.
- Barnes, J. A. (1954). Class and committees in a Norwegian island parish. *Human Relations*, 7, 39-58.
- Baumeister, R. F., & DeWall, C. N. (2005). The inner dimension of social exclusion:Intelligent thought and self-regulation among rejected persons. In K. D. Williams,

J. P. Forgas, & W. von Hippel (Eds.), *The social outcast: Ostracism, social exclusions, rejection, and bullying* (pp. 53-73). New York, NY: Psychology Press.

- Baumeister, R. F., & Leary, M. R. (1995). The need to belong: Desire for interpersonal attachments as a fundamental human motivation, Psychological Review, 117(3) 497-529.
- Berkman, L. D., & Breslow, L. (1983). *Health and ways of living*. New York, New York; Oxford University Press.
- Berkman, L. D., Glass, T., Brissette, I., & Seeman, T. E. (2000). From social integration to health: Durkheim in the new millennium. *Social Science and Medicine*, *51*, 843-857.
- Berkman, L. D., & Syme, S. L. (1979). Social networks, host resistance, and mortality: A nine-year follow-up study of Alameda county residents. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 109(2), 186-204.
- Burisch, M. (1984). You don't always get what you pay for: Measuring depression with short and simple versus long and sophisticated scales. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 18, 81-98.
- Bolger, N., DeLongis, A., Kessler, R.C., & Schilling, E. A. (1989). Effects of daily stress on negative mood. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *57*(5), 808-818.
- Bolger, N., Davis, A., & Rafaeli, E. (2003). Diary methods: Capturing life as it is lived. Annual Review of Psychology 54, 579-616.
- Bondevik, M., & Skogstad, A. (1998). The oldest old, ADL, social network, and loneliness. *Western Journal of Nursing Research*, 20(3), 325-343.

- Bonin, M. F., McCreary, D. R., & Sadava, S. W. (2000). Problem drinking behavior in two community-based samples of adults: Influence of gender, coping, loneliness, and depression. *Journal of Addictive Behaviors*, 14(2), 151-161.
- Brissette, I., Cohen, S., & Seeman, T. E. (2000). Measuring social integration and social networks. In S. Cohen, L.G. Underwood, & B.H. Gottlieb (Eds.), *Social support measurement and intervention: A guide for health and social scientists*, (pp. 53-85). New York, New York; Oxford University Press.
- Bryk, A. S., & Raudenbush, S. W. (1992). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Bryk, A. S., Raudenbush, S. W., Congdon, R. T. (1996). *Hierarchical linear and* nonlinear modeling with HLM12L and HLM12L Programs. Scientific Software International, Inc., Chicago, IL.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M. H., McClintock, M. K. Malarkey, W. B., Hawkley, L. C., Kowalewski, R. B., Paulsen, A., Hobson, J. A., Hugdahl, K., Spiegel, D., & Bernston, G. G. (2000). Lonely traits and concomitant physiological processes: The MacAruthur social neuroscience studies. *International Journal of Psychophysiology*, *35*, 143-154.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Fowler, J. H., & Christakis, N. A. (2009). Alone in the crowd: The structure and spread of loneliness in a large social network. *Journal of Personality* and Social Psychology, 97, 977-991
- Cacioppo, J. T., & Hawkley, L. C. (2003). Social isolation and health, with an emphasis on underlying mechanisms. *Perspectives in Biology and Medicine*, *46*, 39-52.

- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Crawford, L. E., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M. H.,
 Kowalewski, R. B., Malarkey, W. B., Van Cauter, E. & Bernston, G. G. (2002).
 Loneliness and Health: Potential mechanisms. *Psychometric Medicine*, 64(407-417).
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hawkley, L. C., Ernst, J. M., Burleson, M., Bernston, G. G., Nouriani,B., & Spiegel, D. (2006). Loneliness with a nomological net: An evolutionaryperspective. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 40, 1054-1085.
- Cacioppo, J. T., Hughes, M. E., Waite, L. J., Hawkley, L. C., & Thisted, R. A. (2006).
 Loneliness as a specific risk factor for depressive symptoms: Cross-sectional and longitudinal analyses. *Psychology and Aging*, 21(1), 140-151.
- Caplan, S. E. (2002). Problematic internet use ad psycho-social well-being: Development of a theory-based cognitive-behavioral measurement instrument. *Computer in Human Behavior, 18*, 553-575
- Caplan, S. E. (2005). A social skill account of problematic internet use. *Journal of Communication*, December, 721-737.
- Carey, K. B., & Correia, C. J. (1997). Drinking motives predict alcohol-related problems in college students. *Journal of Studies in Alcohol*, 58(1), 100.
- Caspi, A., Bolger, N., & Eckenrode, J. (1987). Linking person and context in the daily stress process. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *52*(1), p. 184-195.
- Cassel, J. (1976). The contribution of the social environment to host resistance. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *104*(2).

- Cobb, S. (1976). Social support as a moderator of life stress. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *38*(5), 300-314.
- Cohen, S. (1988). Psychosocial models of the role of social support in the etiology of physical disease. *Health Psychology*, 7(3), 269-297.
- Cohen, S. (1991). Social supports and physical health: Symptoms, health behaviors, and infectious disease. In E. M. Cummings, A. L. Greene, & K. H. Karraker (Eds.), *Life-span developmental psychology: Perspectives on stress and coping* (pp. 213-233). Hillsdale, New Jersey; Lawrence Erlbaum Associates.
- Cohen, S. (1992). Stress, social support, and disorder. In H.O.F. Veiel and U. Baumann (Eds.). *The meaning and measurement of social support* (pp. 109-124). New York: Hemisphere Press.
- Cohen, S., Brissette, I., Skoner, D. P., & Doyle, W. J. (2000a). Social integration and health: The case of the common cold. *Journal of Social Structure*, 1. doi: <u>http://www.cmu.edu/joss/content/articles/volume1/cohen.html</u>.
- Cohen, S., Doyle, W. J., Skoner, D. P., Rabin, B. S., & Gwaltney, J. M. (1997). Social ties and susceptibility to the common cold. *Journal of the American Medication Association*, 277, 1940-1944.

Cohen, S., Gottlieb, B. H., & Underwood, L. G. (2000b). Social relationships and health.
In S. Cohen, L.G. Underwood, & B.H. Gottlieb (Eds.), *Social support measurement and intervention: A guide for health and social scientists* (pp. 3-25).
New York, NY; Oxford University Press.
- Cohen, S., & Lemay, E. P. (2007). Why would social networks be linked to affect and health practices? *Health Psychology*, *26*(4), 410-417.
- Cohen, S., Lichenstein, E., Kingsolver, K., Mermelstein, R., Baer, J.S., & Kamarck, T.W. (1988). Social support interventions for smoking cessation. In B.H. Gottlieb (Ed.). *Marshaling social support: Formats, processes, and effects* (pp. 211-240). Thousand Oaks, CA, US: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Cohen, S. & McKay, G. (1984). Social support, stress, and the buffering hypothesis: A theoretical analysis. In A. Baum, S. E. Taylor, & J. E. Singer (Eds.). *Handbook of psychology and health* (pp. 253-267). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Inc.
- Cohen, S., & Wills, T. A. (1985). Stress, social support, and the buffering hypothesis. *Psychological Bulletin*, *98*(2), 310-357.
- Conger, J. J. (1956). Alcoholism: Theory, problem, and challenge. II. Reinforcement theory and dynamics of alcoholism. *Quarterly Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 17, 296-305.
- Cooper, M. L., Russell, M., Skinner, J B., & Windle, M. (1992). Development and validation fo a three-dimensional measure of drinking motives. *Psychological Assessment*, 4(2), 123-132.
- Cooper, M. L., Russell, M., Skinner, J. B., Frone, M. R., & Mudar, P. (1992). Stress and alcohol use: Moderating effects of gender, coping, and alcohol expectancies. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, 101(1), 139-152.

- Cooper, M. L. (1994). Motivations for alcohol use among adolescents: Development and validation of a four-factor model. *Psychological Assessment 6*(2), 117-128.
- Cooper, M. L., Frone, M. R., Russell, M., & Mudar, P. (1995). Drinking to regulate positive and negative emotion: A motivational model of alcohol use. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 69(5), 990-1005.
- Cornwell, E. Y., & Waite, L. J. (2009). Social disconnectedness, perceived isolation, and health among older adults. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, *50*(1), 31-48.
- Cutrona, C. E. (1986). Objective determinants of perceived social support. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 50(2), 349-355.
- Cutrona, C. E., & Russell, D. W. (1987). The provisions of social relationships and adaptation to stress. *Advances in Personal Relationships*, *1*, 37-67.
- Cutrona, C. E., & Suhr, J. A. (1992). Controllability of stressful events and satisfaction with spouse support behaviors. *Communication Research*, *19*(2), 154-174.
- Deci, E. L., & Ryan, R. M. (2000). The "what" and "what" of goal pursuits: Human needs and the self determination of behavior. *Psychological Inquiry*, 11(4), 227-268.
- DeLongis, A., Folkman, S., & Lazarus, R. S. (1988). The impact of daily stress on health and mood: Psychological and social resources as mediators. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 54(3), 486-495.
- Doane, L. D., & Adam, E. K. (2010). Loneliness and cortisol: Momentary, day-to-day, and trait associations. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*, *35*(3), 430-441.

Durkheim, E. (1951). Suicide. New York: Free Press.

- Engels, J. M., & Diehr, P. (2003). Imputation of missing longitudinal data: A comparison of methods. *Journal of Clinical Epidemiology*, *56*, 968-976.
- Filmore, K. M., Hartka, E., Johnstone, B. M., Leino, E. V., Motoyoshi, M., & Temple,M. T. (1991). A meta-analysis of life course variation in drinking. *British Journal* of Addiction, 86, 1221-1268.
- Fondacaro, M., & Moos, R. (1987). Social support and coping: A longitudinal analysis. *American Journal of Community Psychology, 15,* 653-673.
- Gagnon, D. R., Doron-LaMarca, S., Bell, M., O'Farrell, T. J., & Taft, C. T. (2008).
 Poisson regression for modeling count and frequency outcomes in trauma research. *Journal of Traumatic Stress*, 21(5), 448-454.
- Glacer, R., Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K., Speicher, C. E., Holliday, J. E. (1985). Stress, loneliness, and changes in herpesvirus latency. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine*, 8(3), 249-260.
- Ghiselli, E. E., Campbell, J. P., & Zedeck, S. (1981). Measurement theory for the behavioral sciences. San Francisco: Freeman.
- Golden, J., Conroy, R. M., Bruce, I., Denihan, A., Greene, E., Kirby, M., & Lawlor, B. A.
 (2009). Loneliness, social support networks, mood and well-being in communitydwelling elderly. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 24, 694-700.

Gray, A. (1993). World Health and Disease. Buckingham: Open University Press.

Griffin, M. L., Mirin, S. M., Weiss, R. D. (1992). Drug abuse as self-medication for depression: An empirical study. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 18(2), 121.

- Gross, E. F., Juvenon, J., & Gable, S. L. (2002). Internet use and well-being in adolescence. *Journal of Social Issues*, 58, 75-90.
- Hamburg, D. A., Elliot, G. R., & Parron, D. L. (Eds.). Health and behavior: Frontiers of research in the behavioral sciences (pp.259). Washington, DC, US: National Academy Press.
- Havassey, B. E., Hall, S. M., & Wasserman, D.A. (1991). Social support and relapse:Commonalities among alcoholics, opiate users, and cigarette smokers. *Addictive Behaviors, 19*(5), 235-246.
- Hawkley, L. C., Burleson, M. H., Bernston, G. G., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2003). Loneliness in everyday life: Cardiovascular activity, psychosocial context, and health behavior. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 85(1), 105-120.
- Hawkley, L. C., Hughes, M. E., Waite, L. J., Masi, C. N., Thisted, R., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2008). From social structural factors to perceptions of relationship quality and loneliness: The Chicago health, aging, and social relations study. *Journals of Gerontology, Series B*, 63(6), 375-384.
- Hawkley, L. C., Masi, C. M., Berry, J. D., & Caccioppo, J. T. (2006). Loneliness is a unique predictor of age-related differences in systolic blood pressure. *Psychology* and Aging, 21(1), 152-164.
- Hawkley, L. C., Preacher, K. J., & Cacioppo, J. T. (2010). Loneliness impairs daytime functioning but not sleep duration. *Health Psychology*, 29(2), 124-129.

- Heaney, C. A., & Isreal, B. A. (2008). Social networks and social support. In K. Glanz,
 B. K. Rimer, & K. Viswanath (Eds.), *Health Behavior and Health Education* (pp. 189-210). San Francisco, CA; Wiley & Sons.
- Heinrich, C. C., Brookmeyer, K. A., Shrier, L. A., Shahar, G. (2006). Supportive relationships and sexual risk behavior in adolescence: An ecological-transactional approach. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 31(3), 286-297.
- Heinriech, L. M., & Gullone, E. (2005). The clinical significance of loneliness: A literature review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 26(6), 695-718.
- Holahan, C. J., & Moos, R. H. (1987). Personal and contextual determinants of coping strategies. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 52(5), 946-955.
- Horowitz, L. M., French, R. S., & Anderson, C. A. (1984). The prototype of a lonely person. In L. A. Peplau and D. Perlman (Eds.). *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy* (pp. 183-205). New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- House, J. S. (1981). Work stress and social support. Reading, MA: Addison-Wesley.
- House, J. S. (1987). Social support and social structure. *Sociological Forum*, 2(1), 135-146.
- House, J. S., Landis, K. R., & Umberson, D. (1988a). Social relationships and health. *Science*, *241*(4865), 540-545.
- House, J. S., Umberson, D., & Landis, K. R. (1988b). Structures and processes of social support. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 14, 293-318.

- Howell, D. C. (2010). Statistical Methods for Psychology (7th ed.). Belmont, CA: Wadsworth Cengage Learning.
- Hox, J. J. (1998). Multi-level modeling: When and why. In I. Balderjahn, R. Mather, andM. Shader (Eds.), *Classification, data analysis, and data highways* (pp. 147-154).New York: Springer Verlag.
- Hox, J. J. (2010). *Multilevel analysis: Techniques and applications* (2nd ed.). Mahwah, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Hussong, A. M., Hicks, R. E., Levy, S. A., & Curran, P. J. (2001). Specifying relations between affect and heavy alcohol use among young adults. *Journal of Abnormal Psychology*, *110*(3), 449-461.
- Jones, W. H. (1987). Research and theory on loneliness: A response to Weiss' reflections.
 In M. Hogat & R. Crandall. (Eds). Loneliness: Theory, research, and applications.
 [Special issue]. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 2(2, Pt. 2), 31-36.
- Jones, W. H., & Moore, T. L. (1987). Loneliness and social support. Journal of Social Behavior & Personality, 2(2), 145-156.
- Jones, W. H., Rose, J., & Russell, D. (1990). Loneliness and social anxiety. In H. Lietenberg (Ed.), *Handbook of social and evaluation anxiety* (pp.247-266). New York: Plenum Press.
- Kreft, I., & De Leeuw, J. (1998). Introduction to multi-level modeling. New York: Sage Publications.

- Kuntsche, S., Knibbe, R. A., & Gnibbe, G. (2009). Social roles and alcohol consumption: A study of 10 industrialized countries. *Social Science and Medicine*, 68, 1263-1270.
- Kuntsche, S., Knibbe, R. A., Gmel, G. & Engels, R. (2006). Who drinks and why? A review of socio-demographic, personality and contextual issues behind the drinking motives in young people. *Addictive Behaviors*, *31*, 1844-1957.
- LaGuardia, J. G., & Patrick, H. (2008). Self-determination theory as a fundamental theory of close relationships. *Canadian Psychology*, *49*(3), 201-109.
- Larson, R. (1999). The uses of loneliness in adolescence. In K. J. Rotenberg and S. Hymel (Eds.), *Loneliness and childhood in adolescence* (pp. 242-262). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Larson, R. J., & Fredrickson, B. L. (1999). Measurement issues in emotion research. In
 D. Kahneman, E. Diener, & N. Schwarz (Eds.) Well-being: The foundations of hedonic psychology (pp.40-60). New York: Russell Sage Foundation.
- Larson, R., Csikszentmihalyi, M., & Graef, R. (1982). Time alone in daily experience:
 Loneliness or renewal? In L. A. Peplau and D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A* sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc.
- Larson, R., Zuzanek, J., & Mannell, R. (1985). Being alone versus being with people:
 Disengagement in the daily experience of older adults. *Journal of Gerontology*, 40, 375-381.

- Latkin, C. A., Knowlton, A. R., Hoover, D., & Mandell, W. (1999). Drug network characteristics as a predictor of cessation of drug use among adult injection drug users: A prospective study. *American Journal of Drug and Alcohol Abuse*, 25(3), 463-473.
- Lauder, W., Mummery, K., Jones, M., & Caperchione, C. (2006). A comparison of health behaviors in lonely and non-lonely populations. *Psychology, Health, & Medicine,* 11(2), 233-245.
- Lewis, M. A., & Rook, K. S. (1999). Social control in personal relationships: Impact on health behavior and psychological distress. *Health Psychology*, *18*(1), 63-71.
- Lin, N. (1986). Conceptualizing social support. In N. Lin, A. Dean, & W. M. Ensel (Eds.), *Social support, life events, and depression* (pp.40-53). Orlando, FL: Academic Press, Inc.
- Long, C. R., & Averill, J. R. (2003). Solitude: An exploration of benefits of being alone. Journal for the Theory of Social Behavior, 33(1).
- Mancini, J. A., & Blieszner, R. (1992). Social provisions in adulthood: Concept and measurement in close relationships. *Journal of Gerontology: PSYCHOLOGICAL* SCIENCES, 47(1), 14-20.
- Maner, J. K., DeWall, N., Baumeister, R. F., & Schaller, M. (2007). Does social exclusion motivate interpersonal reconnection? Resolving the 'porcupine problem'. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 92(1), 42-55.
- Maragoni, C., & Ickes, W. (1989). Loneliness: A theoretical review with implications for measurement. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, *6*, 93-128.

- Mead, G. H. (1934). *Mind, self, and society: From the standpoint of a social behaviorist* (Ed. with intro by C. W. Morris). Chicago: University of Chicago Press.
- Melchior, M., Berkman, L. F., Niedhammer, I., Chea, M., & Goldberg, M. (2003). Social relations and self-reported health: A prospective analysis of the French Gazel cohort. *Social Science & Medicine*, 56, 1817-1830.
- Michael, Y. L., Colditz, G. A., Coakley, E., & Kawachi, I. (1999). Health behaviors, social networks, and healthy aging: Cross-sectional evidence from the nurses' health study. *Quality of Life Research*, 8, 711-722.
- Midanik, L. (1992). Epidemiology of alcohol consumption, *Alcohol heath and research world*, *16*(3), 183-190.
- Mohr, C. D., Armeli, S., Tennen, H., Carney, M.A., Affleck, G., & Hromi, A. (2001a).
 Daily interpersonal experiences, context, and alcohol consumption; Crying in your beer and toasting to good times. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 80(3), 489-500.
- Mohr, C. D., Averne, S., Kenny, D. A., & Delboca, F. (2001b). "Getting by (or getting high) with a little help from my friends": An examination of adult alcoholics' friendships. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol, 62*, 637-645.
- Mohr, C. D., Armeli, S., Ohannessian, C. M., Tennen, H., Carney, A., & Affleck, G.
 (2003). Daily interpersonal experiences and distress: Are women more
 vulnerable? *Journal of Social and Clinical Psychology*, 22(4), 393-423.

- Mohr, C. D., Armeli, S., Tennen H., Temple, M., Todd, M., Clark, J., & Carney, M. A., (2005). Moving beyond the keg party: A daily process study of college student drinking motivations. *Psychology of Addictive Behaviors*, 19(4), 392-403.
- Mohr, C. D., Brannan, D., Wendt, S., Jacobs, L., Wright, R. (2010). Daily mood-drinking slopes predicting one year alcohol-related outcomes. Presented at the 11th annual meeting of the Society for Personality and Social Psychology, Las Vegas, NV.
- Moos, R. H., Brennan, P. L., Fondacaro, M. R., & Moos, B. S. (1990). Approach and avoidance coping responses among older problem and non-problem drinkers. *Psychology and Aging*, 5(1), 31-40.
- Myers, D. G., & Diener, E. (1995). Who is happy? *Psychological Science*, 6, 10-19.
- Paloutzian, R. F., & Janigian, A. S. (1987). Models and method in loneliness research:
 Their status and direction. In M. Hogat & R. Crandall. (Eds). Loneliness: Theory,
 research, and applications. [Special issue]. *Journal of Social Behavior and Personality*, 2(2, Pt. 2), 31-36.
- Peele, S., & Brodsky, A. (2000). Exploring psychological benefits associated with moderate alcohol use: A necessary corrected to assessments of drinking outcomes? *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 60, 221-247.
- Peplau, L. (1985). Loneliness research: Basic concepts and findings. In I. G. Sarason and
 B. R. Sarason (Eds.). *Social support: Theory, research, and applications* (pp. 269-286). Boston, MA: Martinus Nijhoff Publishers.

- Peplau, L. A., Miceli, M., & Morasch, B. (1982). Loneliness and self-evaluation. In L. A. Peplau & D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy* (pp. 135-151). New York: Wiley-Interscience,.
- Peplau, L. A., & Perlman, D. (1979). Blueprint for a social psychological theory of loneliness. In M. Cook & G. Wilson (Eds.), *Love and attraction* (99-108). Oxford, England: Pergamon.
- Penninx, B. W. J. H., van Tilburg, T., Kriegsman, D. M. W., Heed, D. J. H., BOke, A. J.
 P., & van Eijk, J. T. M. (1997). Effects of social support and personal coping resources on mortality in older age: The longitudinal aging study Amsterdam. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, *146*, 510-519.
- Perlman, D. (1990). 'Age differences in loneliness: A meta-analysis', paper presented at the 98th Annual Convention of the American Psychological Association, Boston, MA, 10-14.
- Perlman, D., & Peplau, L. A. (1981). Toward a social psychology of loneliness. In S.Duck & R. Gilmour (Eds.), *Personal relationships disorder*, (pp. 31-56). London: Academic Press.
- Perlman, D., & Peplau, L. A. (1984). Loneliness research: A survey of empirical findings. In L.A. Peplau & S. Goldston (Eds.), *Preventing harmful consequences of severe and persistent loneliness*, (pp. 13-46). U.S. Government Printing Office: DDH Publication No. (ADM) 84-1312.

- Perrine, M. W., Mundt, J. C., Searles, J. S. & Lester, L. S. (1995). Validation of daily self-report alcohol consumption using interactive voice response (IVR) technology. *Journal of Studies on Alcohol*, 56, 487-490.
- Pressman, S. D., Cohen, S., Miller, G. E., Barkin, A., & Rabin, B. (2005). Loneliness, social network size, and immune response to influenza vaccination in college freshman. *Department of Psychology*. Paper 252. http://repositaory.cmu.edu/ps
- Raudenbush, S. W., & Bryk, A. S. (2002). *Hierarchical linear models: Applications and data analysis methods*. Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.
- Reis, H. T., & Judd, C. M. (2009). Handbook of research methods in social and personality psychology (pp. 408-309). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Reis, H. T., & Gable, S. (2003). Toward a positive psychology of relationships. In
 C.L.M. Keyes & J. Haidt (Eds.), *Flourishing: Positive psychology and the life well-lived* (pp. 129-159). Washington, DC: American Psychological Assocation.
- Reis, H. T., Sheldon, K. M., Gable, S. L., Roscoe, J., Ryan, R. M. (2000). Daily wellbeing: The role of autonomy, competence, and relatedness. *Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin*, 26(4), 419-435.

Resnick, M. D., Beramna, P.S., Blum, R. W., Bauman, K. E., Harris, K. M., Jones, J.,
Tabor, J., Beuhring, T., Sieving, R. E., Shew, M., Ireland, M., Bearinger, L. H., &
Udry, J. R. (1997). Protecting adolescents from harm: Findings from the national
longitudinal study on adolescent health. *The Journal of the American Medical Association*, 278(10), 823-832.

- Reynolds, P., & Kaplan, G. A. (1990). Social connections and risk for cancer:
 Prospective evidence from the Alameda County study. *Behavioral Medicine*, *16*(3), 101-110.
- Robins, L. N., Cottler, L., Buckholz, K., & Compton, W. (1998). The Diagnostic Interview Schedule for DSM-IV. Washington University School of Medicine; St. Louis, MO.
- Rodriguez, M. S., & Cohen, S. (1998). Social support. In H. Friedman (Ed.), Encyclopedia of Mental Health. San Diego, CA: Academic Press.
- Rokach, A., & Brock, H. (1998). Coping with loneliness. *Journal of Psychology*, 132(1), 107-127.
- Rook, K. S. (1984). The negative side of social interaction: Impact on psychological well-being. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, *46*, 1097-1108.
- Rook, K. S. (2001). Emotional health and positive versus negative social exchanges: A daily diary analysis. *Applied Developmental Science*, *5*(2), 86-97.
- Rook, K. S., Thursas, P. D., & Lewis, M. A. (1990). Social control, health risk taking, and psychological distress in the elderly. *Psychology and Aging*, *5*(3), 327-334.
- Rubenstein, C. M., & Shaver, P. (1982). The experience of loneliness. In L. A. Peplau &
 D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy* (pp. 206-223). New York: Wiley-Interscience.
- Russell, D. W. (1996). UCLA Loneliness Scale (Version 3): Reliability, validity, and factor structure. *Journal of Personality Assessment*, *66*(1), 20-40.

- Russell, D., Cutrona, C. E., Rose, J., & Yurko, K. (1984). Social and emotional loneliness: An examination of Weiss's Typology of Loneliness. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 46(6), 1313-1321.
- Russell, D., Peplau, L. A., & Cutrona, C. E. (1980). The revised UCLA loneliness scale: Concurrent and discriminant validity evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 39(3), 472-480.
- Russell, J. A., Weiss, A., & Mendelsohn, G. A. (1989). Affect grid: A single-item scale of pleasure and arousal. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 57(3), 493-502.
- Sarason, B. R., Sarason, I. G., & Gurung, R. A. R. (2001). Close personal relationships and health outcomes: A key to the role of social support. In B. R. Sarason & S. Duck (Eds.), *Personal relationships: Implications for clinical and community psychology* (pp. 15-41). West Sussex, England: Wiley & Sons, LTD.
- Seeman, T. E. (1996). Social ties and health: The benefits of social integration. *Annual of Epidemiology*, *6*, 442-451.
- Scherbaum, C. A., & Ferreter, J. M. (2009). Estimating statistical power and required sample sizes for organizational research using multilevel modeling. *Organizational Research Methods*, 12(2), 347-265.
- Shankur, A., McMunn, A., Banks, J., & Steptoe, A. (2011). Loneliness, social isolation, and behavioral and biological health indicators in older adults. *Health Psychology*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1037/a0022826

- Sheldon, K. M., & Gunz, A. (2009). Psychological needs as basic motives, not just experimental requirements. *Journal of Personality*, 77(5), 1467-1492.
- Snyder, C. R., Lopez, S. J., & Pedrotti, J. T. (2011). Positive psychology: The scientific and practical explorations of human strengths (2nd ed.). Los Angeles, CA;
 SAGE Publications, Inc.
- Steele, C. M., & Josephs, R. A. (1990). Alcohol myopia; Its prized and dangerous effects. *American Psychologist*, 921-933.
- Steptoe, A., Wardle, J., Pollard, T. M., Canann, L., Davies, G. J. (1996). Stress, social support and health-related behavior: A study of smoking, alcohol consumption, and physical exercise. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 41(2), 171-180.
- Stroebe, W., & Stroebe, M. (1996). The social psychology of social support. In E. T. Higgins & A. W. Kruglanski (Eds.). Social Psychology: Handbooks of Basic Principles (pp. 597-621). New York, NY: Guildford Press.
- Tabachnick, B. G., & Fidell, L.S. (2007). Multilevel linear modeling. In B. G. Tabachnik and L. S. Fidell (Eds.), *Using Multivariate Statistics* (5th ed.; pp. 823-826).
 Boston, MA: Pearson Education, Inc.
- Taylor, S E., Klein, L. c., Lewis, B. P., Gruenwald, T. L., Gurung, R. A. R., & Updegraff,
 J. A. (2000). Biobehavioral responses to stress in females: Tend-and-befriend, not
 fight-or-flight. *Psychological Review*, 107(3), 411-429.
- Tennen, H., Affleck, H., Armeli, S., & Carney, M. A. (2000). A daily process approach to coping: Linking theory, research, and practice. *American Psychologist*, 55(6), 626-636.

- Thoits, P. A. (1982). Conceptual, methodological, and theoretical problems in studying social support as a buffer against life stress. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 23(2), 145-159.
- Thoits, P. A. (1983). Multiple identities and psychological well-being: A reformulation and test of the social isolation hypothesis. *American Sociological Review*, 48, 174-187.
- Thoits, P. A. (1985). Social support and psychological well-being: Theoretical possibilities. In I. G. Sarason & B. R. Sarason (Eds.), *Social support: Theory, research, and applications* (pp. 51-72). The Hague, Netherlands: Martinus Nijhoff.
- Thoits, P. A. (1992). Identity structures and psychological well-being: Gender and marital status comparisons. *Social Psychology Quarterly*, *55*(3), 236-256.
- Thoits, P. A. (1995). Stress, coping, and social support processes: Where are we? What next? *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, (Extra Issue), 53-79.
- Uchino, B. T. (2004). The meaning and measurement of social support. In B. T. Uchino (Ed.), Social support and physical health: Understanding the health consequences of close relationships (pp. 9-32). New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Uchino, B. T. (2006). Social support and health: A review of physiological processes potentially underlying links to disease outcomes. *Journal of Behavioral Medicine* 29(4), 377-387.

- Uchino, B. T., Cacioppo, J. T., & Kiecolt-Glaser, J. K. (1996). Social support and physiological processes: A review with emphasis on underlying mechanisms and implications for health. *Psychological Bulletin*, 119(3), 488-531.
- Umberson, D. (1987). Family status and health behaviors: Social control as a dimension of social integration. *Journal of Health and Social Behavior*, 28, 306-319.
- Umberson, D. (1992). Gender, marital status and the social control of health behavior. Social Science & Medicine, 34(8), 907-917.
- Watson, D. Clark, L. A., & Tellegen, A. (1988). Development and validation of brief measures of positive and negative affect: the PANAS scales. *Journal of Personality and Socail Psychology*, 54(6). 1063-1070.
- Weiss, R. S. (1973). Loneliness: The experience of emotional and social isolation. Cambridge, MA: MIT Press.
- Weiss, R. S. (1974). The provisions of social relationships. In Z. Rubin (Ed.), *Doing unto others* (pp. 17-26). Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Weiss, R. S. (1982). Issues in the study of loneliness. In L. A. Peplau and D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy*. New York, NY: John Wiley & Sons, Inc., p. 76.
- Wenger, C. H., Davies, R., Shahtahmasebi, S., & Scott, A. (1996). Social isolation and loneliness in old age: Review and model refinement. *Ageing and Society*, 16, 333-358.
- West, S. G., & Hepworth, J. T. (1991). Statistical issues in the study of temporal data: Daily experiences. *Journal of Personality*, 59(3), 609-662.

- Wills, T. A. (1985). Supportive functions and relationships. In S. Cohen and S. L. Syme (Eds.), Social Support and Health. Academic, Florida.
- Wilson, C. & Moulton, B. (2010). Loneliness among older adults: A national survey of adults 45+. Prepared by Knowledge Networks and Insight Policy Research.Washington DC: AARP.
- Young, J. E. (1982). Loneliness, depression, and cognitive therapy: Theory and application. In L. A. Peplau & D. Perlman (Eds.), *Loneliness: A sourcebook of current theory, research, and therapy*. New Work, NY: Wiley Inter-science.

Appendix A

Social Network Index

Instructions: This questionnaire is concerned with how many people you see or talk to on a regular basis including family, friends, workmates, neighbors, etc. Please read and answer each question carefully. Answer follow-up questions where appropriate.

1. Which of the following best describes your marital status?

____ (1) currently married & living together, or living with someone in marital-like relationship

(2) never married & never lived with someone in a marital-like relationship (3) separated

(4) divorced or formerly lived with someone in a marital-like relationship

____(5) widowed

2. How many children do you have? (If you don't have any children, check '0' and skip to question 3.)

 $_0$ $_1$ $_2$ $_3$ $_4$ $_5$ $_6$ $_7$ or more

2a. How many of your children do you see or talk to on the phone at least once every 2 weeks?

 $_0$ $_1$ $_2$ $_3$ $_4$ $_5$ $_6$ $_7$ or more

3. Are either of your parents living? (If neither is living, check '0' and skip to question 4.) ____(0) neither ____(1) mother only ____(2) father only ____(3) both

3a. Do you see or talk on the phone to either of your parents at least once every 2 weeks?

(0) neither (1) mother only (2) father only (3) both

4. Are either of your in-laws (or partner's parents) living? (If you have none, check the appropriate space and skip to question 5.)

(0) neither (1) mother only (2) father only (3) both (4) n/a

4a. Do you see or talk on the phone to either of your partner's parents at least once every 2 weeks?

(0) neither (1) mother only (2) father only (3) both

5. How many other relatives (other than your spouse, parents & children) do you feel

close to? (If '0', check that space and skip to question 6). 0 - 1 - 2 - 3 - 4 - 5 - 6 - 7 or more

| DAILY RESPONSES TO LONELINESS 5a. How many of these relatives do you see or talk to on the phone | 120 |
|---|-------------------------------|
| at least once every 2 weeks? $-0 -1 -2 -3 -4 -5 -6$ | _7 or more |
| 6. How many close friends do you have? (people that you feel at ease with, ca about private matters, and can call on for help) 01234567 or 6a. How many of these friends do you see or talk to at least once every 2 | n talk to more 2 weeks? |
| 0123456 more | 7 or |
| 7. Do you belong to a church, temple, or other religious group? (If not, check skip to question 8.) no yes | 'no' and |
| 7a. How many members of your church or religious group do you talk to at least once every 2 weeks? (This includes at group meetings and servic 0 1 2 3 4 5 6 | es.) 27 or more |
| 8. Do you attend any classes (school, university, technical training, or adult economic on a regular basis? (If not, check 'no' and skip to question 9.) | lucation) |
| 8a. How many fellow students or teachers do you talk to at least once every 2 weeks? (This includes at class meetings.) | _7 or more |
| 9. Are you currently employed either full or part-time? (If not, check 'no' and quest. 10.) (0) no (1) yes, self-employed (2) yes, employ others | skip to ved by |
| 9a. How many people do you supervise? 0123456 | _7 or more |
| 9b. How many people at work (other than those you supervise) do you talk to at least once every 2 weeks? | |
| 0123456 | _7 or more |

DAILY RESPONSES TO LONELINESS

10. How many of your neighbors do you visit or talk to at least once every 2 weeks?

11. Are you currently involved in regular volunteer work? (If not, check 'no' and skip to question 12.)

_____ no _____ yes

11a. How many people involved in this volunteer work do you talk to about volunteering-related issues at least once every 2 weeks?

12. Do you belong to any groups in which you talk to one or more members of the group about group-related issues at least once every 2 weeks? Examples include social clubs, recreational groups, trade unions, commercial groups, professional organizations, groups concerned with children like the PTA or Boy Scouts, groups concerned with community service, etc. (If you don't belong to any such groups, check 'no' and skip the section below.)

____ no ____ yes

Consider those groups in which you talk to a fellow group member at least once every 2 weeks. Please provide the following information for each such group: the name or type of group and the total number of members in that group that you talk to at least once every 2 weeks.

Total number of group members

This scale was used for the following journal article:

Cohen, S., Doyle, W. J., Skoner, D. P., Rabin, B. S., & Gwaltney, J. M. Jr. (1997). Social ties and susceptibility to the common cold. Journal of the American Medical Association, 277, 1940-1944.

| How much does each of the following words describe your mood right now? | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|------------|----------|------------|-----------|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|
| | Not at all | Slightly | Moderately | Very much | Extremely | | | | | |
| 1.Enthusiastic | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 2.Nervous | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 3. Angry | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 4. Happy | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 5.Lonely | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 6.Relaxed | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 7.Sad | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 8. Disappointed | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 9.Bored | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |
| 10. Stressed | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | | | | | |

Appendix B Example daily diary questions (morning)

This section concerns your activities from LAST NIGHT. Specifically, what happened AFTER you completed your last interview (or if it is your first day, after 8:00 p.m. yesterday) until you went to sleep?

For the following activities, how many hours did you spend doing each *last night*? (Remember, last night refers to after your last interview until you went to bed.)

| 1. | Watching 0 | TV? 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
|----|-----------------|---------------|-----------|---------|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|-----|--------|
| 2. | Light exer 0 | rcise? 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| 3. | Moderate | or vigor | ous exe | rcise? | | | | | | | |
| | 0 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| 4. | Interacting | g with fi | riends or | family? | , | | | | | | |
| | 0 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| 5. | Working of | or doing | housew | ork? | | | | | | | |
| | 0 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| 6. | Using the | internet | ? | | | | | | | | |
| | 0 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| 7. | Sleep? | | | | | | | | | | |
| | 0 | 0.5 | 1.0 | 2.0 | 3.0 | 4.0 | 5.0 | 6.0 | 7.0 | 8.0 | >8 hrs |
| | | | | | | | | | | | |

How many alcoholic drinks did you have at home last night?

| | 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | >12 |
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|
|--|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|-----|

DAILY RESPONSES TO LONELINESS

If you had 1 or more drinks at home last night, were you? (click all that apply):

Alone Interacting with others who were drinking Interacting with others who were not drinking Not interacting and others were not drinking Not interacting and others were drinking

How many drinks did you have in each situation?

| Alone 0 >12 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
|--|----------------|---------------|---------------|-----------------|----------------|---------|-----------------|-----------|----|----|----|-----|
| Interac 0 >12 | ting with 1 | h others 2 | who we | re drinki 4 | ng 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| Interac 0 >12 | ting witl 1 | h others 2 | who wes | re not dr 4 | inking 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| Not int 0 >12 | eracting 1 | and oth 2 | ers were 3 | e not drin 4 | nking 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| Not int 0 >12 | eracting 1 | and oth 2 | ers were 3 | drinkin 4 | g 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| How n | nany alc | oholic o | lrinks d | id you h | ave <u>awa</u> | ay from | <u>home </u> la | ast night | t? | | | |
| 0 >12 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| If you had 1 or more drinks away from home last night, were you? (click all that apply): Alone Interacting with others who were drinking Interacting with others who were not drinking Not interacting and others were not drinking Not interacting and others were drinking How many drinks did you have in each situation? | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Alone 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 | >12 |

DAILY RESPONSES TO LONELINESS

| Interacting with others who were drinking | | | | | | | | | | | | |
|---|-----------|----------|-----------|------------|---------|---|---|---|---|----|----|----|
| 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| >12 | - | _ | - | - | - | - | | | 2 | | | |
| | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Interac | cting wit | h others | who we | re not di | rinking | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| >12 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Not in | teracting | and oth | ners were | e not drii | nking | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| >12 | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| Not interacting and others were drinking | | | | | | | | | | | | |
| 0 | 1 | 2 | 3 | 4 | 5 | 6 | 7 | 8 | 9 | 10 | 11 | 12 |
| >12 | | | - | | - | - | - | - | - | - | | |
| · • • | | | | | | | | | | | | |

124